# **Bioactive Phytochemicals in Flaxseed**

With Particular Emphasis on the Secoisolariciresinol Oligomer

Pernilla Johnsson

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Food Science Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2009 Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae 2009:57

Cover: Flaxseeds (photo: P. Johnsson)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-576-7404-3 © 2009 Pernilla Johnsson, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2009

#### Bioactive Phytochemicals in Flaxseed - With Particular Emphasis on the Secoisolariciresinol Oligomer

#### Abstract

Flaxseed (*Linum usitatissimum* L.) is rich in health-promoting bioactive compounds. Among plant foods, flaxseed has the highest content of lignans, mainly in the form of secoisolariciresinol diglucoside (SDG). Flaxseed oil also has a very high concentration of the essential omega-3 fatty acid alpha-linolenic acid (ALA). This thesis presents studies on both SDG and ALA.

An HPLC method for quantification of SDG in hydrolysed flaxseed extracts was developed and used to compare the SDG content in 29 flaxseed cultivars (6.1-13.3 mg/g seed, dry weight). Full spectroscopic (NMR) data were obtained for two compounds, 4-O- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-p-coumaric acid (CoAG) and 4-O- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-ferulic acid, eluting before SDG in the HPLC system developed. NMR analyses provided the first evidence that SDG in flaxseed is bound in a linear oligomeric structure with an average composition of five SDG residues interlinked by four 3-hydroxy-3-methyl glutaric acid residues (average size 4 kDa). Chromatographic (UHPLC, GPC, SPE) and spectroscopic (MALDI-TOF) analyses of seven different flaxseed cultivars showed that the size of the SDG oligomers differed among cultivars depending on seed SDG/CoAG ratios.

In attempts to decrease the use of fish-based feeds in aquaculture, vegetable oils are being assessed as replacements for fish oil. However, this has hitherto resulted in decreased levels of the long-chain omega-3 fatty acids (n-3 HUFA) that make fish a healthy food choice for humans. Previous studies have shown that sesamin, a lignan from sesame seed, is able to increase conversion of ALA to n-3 HUFA in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) but less efficiently than expected when flaxseed oil, given its high ALA content, was used. In order to investigate whether high levels of ALA or possibly minor compounds in flaxseed oil could be responsible for the low n-3 HUFA formation, rainbow trout were fed diets containing purified flaxseed triacylglycerols (PFSO) with and without sesamin. However, it was found that PFSO was unable to increase ALA conversion compared with unaltered flaxseed oil and that PSFO with or without sesamin addition had the opposite effect to unaltered flaxseed oil with or without sesamin addition, respectively. The reasons for these effects are discussed.

Keywords: Lignans, HPLC, linseed, rainbow trout, alpha-linolenic acid, n-3 HUFA

*Author's address:* Pernilla Johnsson, sLU, Department of Food Science, P.O. Box 7051, SE-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* Pernilla.Johnsson@lmv.slu.se

# Bioaktiva fytokemikalier i linfrö - Med särskild betoning på secoisolariciresinol-oligomeren

#### Svensk sammanfattning

Linfrö (*Linum usitatissimum* L.) innehåller höga halter av bioaktiva ämnen. Bland födoväxter har linfrö det högsta innehållet av lignaner, främst i form av secoisolariciresinol diglukosid (SDG). Linfröolja har också bland de högsta koncentrationerna av den essentiella omega-3 fettsyran alfalinolensyra (ALA). Den här avhandlingen presenterar arbeten om både SDG och ALA.

En HPLC-metod för kvantifiering av SDG i hydrolyserade linfröextrakt utvecklades och användes för att jämföra innehållet av SDG i 29 linfrösorter (6.1– 13.3 mg/g frö, torrvikt). Vidare erhölls fullständiga spektroskopiska data för två föreningar, 4-O- $\beta$ -D-glukopyranosyl-*p*-coumarsyra (CoAG) och 4-O- $\beta$ -Dglukopyranosyl-ferulasyra, som eluerades före SDG i den framtagna HPLCmetoden. Med hjälp av olika NMR-tekniker lades de första bevisen fram för att SDG i linfrö var bundet i en linjär oligomer struktur innehållande ett genomsnitt av fem SDG-enheter sammanlänkade av fyra 3-hydroxy-3-metylglutarsyror (medelvikt 4 kDa). Genom kromatografiska (UHPLC, GPC, SPE) och spektroskopiska (MALDI-TOF) jämförelser av sju linfrösorter visades att SDG-oligomerer har olika storlekar i olika linfrösorter beroende på fröernas SDG/CoAG-kvot.

I och med ansträngningar att minska användningen av fiskbaserade foder i fiskodlingen görs försök att ersätta fiskolja i foder med vegetabiliska oljor. Det har dock hitills resulterat i minskade halter av de långkedjiga omega-3 fettsyror (n-3 HUFA) som gör fisk till ett hälsosamt livsmedelsval för människor. Tidigare studier har visat att en lignan från sesamfrö, sesamin, har förmågan att öka omvandlingen av ALA till n-3 HUFA i regnsbågslax (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) men, med tanke på linfröoljans höga innehåll av ALA, i mindre grad än väntat när linfröolja användes i fodret. För att undersöka huruvida den höga ALA-halten eller möjligen de "småkomponenter" som finns i linfröolja orsakar den låga ALA-omvandlingen, utfodrades regnbågslax med triacylglycerolfraktionen (PFSO) från linfröolja med eller utan tillsats av sesamin. Det visade sig dock att PFSO inte ökade ALA-omvandlingen jämfört med hel linfröolja samt att PFSO med eller utan tillsatt sesamin, resulterade i omvända effekter jämfört med linfröolja med respekive utan tillsatt sesamin. Orsakerna till dessa effekter diskuteras.

Hur kan det finnas så mycket att titta på i ett litet linfrö? Momma

# Contents

List o	of Publications	9
Abbr	eviations	11
1	Introduction	13
1.1	Flaxseed lignans	14
	1.1.1 The lignan oligomer in flaxseed	17
	1.1.2 Biosynthesis	19
	1.1.3 Analysis of the phenolic compounds of the flaxseed lignan	10
	oligomer	19
	1.1.4 Metabolism and physiological effects	22
10	Flaveood oil	20
1.2	1.2.1. Significance of omega-3 fatty acids for health	29
	1.2.2 Flasseed oil as an incredient in fish feed	33
2	Objectives	35
3	Analytical procedures	37
3.1	Work related to the lignan oligomer of flaxseed (Papers I-IV)	37
3.2	Work related to flaxseed oil (Paper V)	40
	3.2.1 Feed preparation	40
	3.2.2 Fish	40
	3.2.3 Lipid extraction and determination of fatty acids	40
	3.2.4 Sesamin and tocopherol determinations	41
4	Results and discussion	43
4.1	Work related to the lignan oligomer of flaxseed (Papers I-IV)	43
	4.1.1 Method development	43
	4.1.2 Isolation and structural determination of <i>p</i> -coumaric and ferul	ic
	acid glucoside	45
	4.1.3 Structural analyses of the lignan oligomer	45
	4.1.4 Further insights into the nature of the flaxseed lignan oligomer	r 47
4.2	Work related to flaxseed oil (Paper V)	51
	4.2.1 Fish white muscle lipid composition	51
	4.2.2 Sesamin and tocopherols	53

5	Main findings and conclusions	55
6	Future perspectives	57
7	References	59
8	Acknowledgements	75

### List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Johnsson, P., Kamal-Eldin, A., Lundgren, L.N., Åman, P. (2000). HPLC method for analysis of secoisolariciresinol diglucoside in flaxseeds. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 48, 5216-5219.
- II Johnsson, P., Peerlkamp, N., Kamal-Eldin, A., Andersson, R.E., Andersson, R., Lundgren, L.N., Åman, P. (2002). Polymeric fractions containing phenol glucosides in flaxseed. *Food Chemistry* 76, 207–212.
- III Kamal-Eldin, A., Peerlkamp, N., Johnsson, P., Andersson, R., Andersson, R.E., Lundgren, L.N., Åman, P. (2001). An oligomer from flaxseed composed of secoisolariciresinol diglucoside and 3-hydroxy-3methyl glutaric acid residues, *Phytochemistry* 58, 587-590.
- IV Johnsson, P., Vincken, J-P., Gruppen, H., Kamal-Eldin, A. The size of the lignan oligomer in flaxseed is influenced by its monomeric constituents (manuscript).
- V Johnsson, P., Brännäs, E., Kamal-Eldin, A., Pickova, J. The effect of purified flaxseed triacylglycerols and sesamin on fatty acid composition in white muscle of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) (manuscript).

9

Papers I-III are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of Pernilla Johnsson to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Took main responsibility for the analytical work and for preparation and revision of the paper.
- II Took part in planning the study, had main responsibility for the analytical work and assisted in preparation and revision of the paper.
- III Took part in planning the study, the analytical work and preparation and revision of the paper.
- IV Took a major part in planning the work and had main responsibility for the analytical work and for preparation of the manuscript.
- V Took a major part in planning the work and had main responsibility for the analytical work and for preparation of the manuscript.

# Abbreviations

AA	Arachidonic acid (20:4 n-6)
ALA	alpha-linolenic acid/ $\alpha$ -linolenic acid (18:3 n-3)
aq.	Aqueous
<sup>13</sup> C NMR	Carbon NMR
CoAG	<i>p</i> -coumaric acid glucoside
COSY	Correlation spectroscopy (NMR)
DFF	Defatted flaxseed flour
DHA	Docosahexaenoic acid (22:6 n-3)
DPA	Docosapentaenoic acid (22:5 n-3)
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid (20:5 n-3)
FeA	Ferulic acid
FeAG	Ferulic acid glucoside
FSO	Flaxseed oil
FSO+S	Flaxseed oil + sesamin
GC	Gas chromatography
GLM	General Linear Model
GPC	Gel permeation chromatography
HDG	Herbacetin diglucoside
HMBC	Heteronuclear multiple bond correlation (NMR)
HMGA	3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaric acid
<sup>1</sup> H NMR	Proton NMR
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
HSQC-DEPT	Heteronuclear single quantum coherence - Distortionless enhancement by polarization transfer (NMR)
HUFA	Highly unsaturated fatty acids ( $\geq 20$ carbons and $\geq 3$ double bonds)
LA	Linoleic acid (18:2 n-6)
LC-MS	Liquid chromatography mass spectrometry
	· · · ·

MALDI-TOF MS	Matrix Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionisation Time of Flight
	Mass Spectrometry
МО	Mixed oil (sunflower + linseed oil, 6:4 v/v)
MO+S	Mixed oil + sesamin
MS	Mass spectrometry
MW	Molecular weight (g/mol or Da)
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy
PFSO	Purified flaxseed oil
PFSO+S	Purified flaxseed oil + sesamin
PL	Phospholipid
SAS	Statistical Analysis System for Windows
SD	Standard deviation
SDG	Secoisolariciresinol diglucoside
SECO	Secoisolariciresinol
SPE	Solid phase extraction
TAG	Triacylglycerol
TOCSY	Total correlation spectroscopy (NMR)
UHPLC	Ultra-high performance liquid chromatography

### 1 Introduction

Archaeological findings suggest that flax (Linum usitatissimum L.) has been used by humans for about 10,000 years. It was probably one of the first plants to be domesticated, around 6,000 years B.C. in Mesopotamia, as evidenced by findings of large flaxseeds resulting from irrigation of cultivated land. There are records of flaxseed being used in bread in Jordan and Greece 3,000 years ago. Flaxseed and flaxseed oil have been valued as foods and for medical purposes since ancient times (Vaisey-Genser and Morris, 2003). Flaxseed is now attracting increased interest as a food due to its high fibre content, high content of bioactive phenolic compounds (mainly lignans) and high content of the essential omega-3 fatty acid alphalinolenic acid (ALA) (Dean, 2003). However, in many countries there are restrictions on the amount of flaxseed that may be included in foods (Dean, 2003) due to its content of cyanogenic compounds. The Swedish National Food Administration advises consumers to not eat more than two tablespoons of flaxseed per day, but an occasional intake of 3-10 tablespoons is not considered to entail any acute health risks (Livsmedelsverket, 2009). The five leading producers of flaxseed world-wide are, in decreasing order: Canada, China, India, USA and Ethiopia (FAOSTAT, 2007).

Flaxseed is also sometimes called linseed. In North America, the names 'flaxseed' and 'linseed' are used interchangeably, although there is a tendency to use the name flaxseed for seeds that are used for human consumption. In Europe, the name flax is used for plants that are grown for linen fibre, while linseed refers to seeds that are grown for technical and nutritional purposes (Vaisey-Genser and Morris, 2003). The term flaxseed is used throughout this thesis, which focuses on the two traits of flaxseed that have gained most attention during recent decades, namely its high lignan and ALA content.

### 1.1 Flaxseed lignans

In the 1970s, a class of compounds called lignans, especially abundant in fibre-rich parts of plants, was recognised by the National Cancer Institute (USA) as high-interest compounds with regard to antitumour activity (Hartwell, 1976; Barclay, 1976). A few years later, the enterolignans (also called mammalian lignans) enterolactone and enterodiol, which were identified as metabolic products of dietary plant origin, were discovered in human urine (Setchell et al., 1979; Setchell et al., 1980b; Stich et al., 1980; Setchell et al., 1981; Axelson et al., 1982). Their excretion in urine from human and vervet monkey females was shown to vary during the reproductive cycle, with a maximum during the luteal phase and early pregnancy. Their excretion was negatively correlated to that of oestrogen, suggesting a physiological function relating to hormone metabolism (Setchell et al., 1979; Stich et al., 1980; Setchell et al., 1980a; Setchell et al., 1981; Adlercreutz, 1984; Horwitz and Walker, 1984). This eventually led to the suggestion that fibre-rich plant foods containing hormone-like compounds such as lignans and isoflavonoids, also known as phyto-oestrogens, may influence oestrogen metabolism and reduce the incidence of breast and colon cancer and possibly other diseases (Setchell et al., 1981; Adlercreutz, 1982, 1984; Horwitz and Walker, 1984; Adlercreutz, 1990). In plants, lignans are thought to act as growth regulators or as a defence against external threats (Ayres and Loike, 1990). The number of lignans identified is steadily increasing. Lignans come in a large number of structural variations and they have been shown to possess a wide variety of biological activities such as antitumour, antimitotic, inhibition of DNA and RNA synthesis, antiviral, inhibition of enzyme activity, anti-insect, antimicrobial and fungistatic (MacRae and Towers, 1984), which is why they are attracting much interest in research.

Dietary sources of lignans include seeds, legumes, cereals, vegetables, berries, seaweed, tea and alcoholic beverages (Thompson *et al.*, 1991; Namiki, 1995; Mazur *et al.*, 1996; Mazur, 1998; Mazur and Adlercreutz, 1998; Mazur *et al.*, 1998a, b; Liggins *et al.*, 2000; Mazur *et al.*, 2000; Nurmi *et al.*, 2003). Quantitative data on some lignans present in food are presented in Table 1. Flaxseed and sesame seed contain tens to thousands of times more lignans than most other edible plants (Table 1) and can therefore contribute significantly to lignan intake through the diet, even with moderate intakes.

Source	Lignan	Level	Reference
		(ppm <sup>1</sup> , fresh weight)	
Flaxseed	Secoisolariciresinol <sup>2</sup>	6285-13680 <sup>3</sup>	Eliasson et al., 2003
Sesame seed	Sesamin	70-7120	Moazzami and Kamal-Eldin, 2006
Sunflower seed	Lariciresinol	7	Milder et al., 2005
Rye	Syringaresinol	35	Smeds et al., 2007
Wheat	7-hydroxymatairesinol	28	Smeds et al., 2007
Broccoli	Lariciresinol	10	Milder et al., 2005
Strawberry	Pinoresinol	2	Milder et al., 2005
Tea (blend)	Pinoresinol	0.3	Milder et al., 2005

Table 1. Examples of lignan levels determined for some selected food plant products

<sup>1</sup>Parts per million

<sup>2</sup>Recalculated from secoisolariciresinol diglucoside

<sup>3</sup>Dry weight

Plant lignans are phenolic secondary metabolites with a basic structure consisting of two interlinked phenylpropanoid molecules (Figure 1a). There are two major classes of lignans, the dibenzylbutane lignans and the furanofuran lignans, of which secoisolariciresinol diglucoside (SDG) from flaxseed and sesamin from sesame seed are respective examples (Figure 1b and c). The prevailing lignan in flaxseed is secoisolariciresinol diglucoside (SDG; MW = 686.7 Da; Figure 1b) (Bakke and Klosterman, 1956; Chimichi et al., 1999; Sicilia et al. 2003), which is often referred to as secoisolariciresinol or SECO, the aglycone of SDG (Mazur et al., 1996) depending on the method of analysis. In flaxseed, SDG exists in two isomeric forms, (+)-SDG and (-)-SDG, of which (+)-SDG is the major isomer (Bambagiotti-Alberti et al. 1994; Eliasson et al., 2003). Smaller quantities of matairesinol, isolariciresinol, lariciresinol, demethoxysecoisolariciresinol and pinoresinol have also been identified in flaxseed (Meagher et al., 1999; Sicilia et al., 2003). The lignan content in flaxseed differs between varieties, but has also been shown to depend on growing location and year (Westcott and Muir, 1996b; Thompson et al., 1997).

There are only a few studies on the stability of SDG through food processing. The SDG content in bakery products, added as a supplement or present in flaxseed, has been shown to withstand normal baking procedures (Westcott and Muir, 1996b; Muir and Westcott, 2000; Hyvärinen *et al.*, 2006), and storage of bread for 1 week at room temperature or 1-2 months at -25 °C (Hyvärinen *et al.*, 2006 a).



*Figure 1.* a) The basic structure of lignans consisting of two interlinked phenylpropanoid molecules, b) secoisolariciresinol diglucoside, a dibenzylbutane lignan, c) sesamin, a furanofuran lignan.

Strandås *et al.* (2008b) showed that the level of SDG in 17 breads containing flaxseed was in the expected range considering the amount of flaxseed added. They also showed that the SDG and the hydroxycinnamic acids deriving from the flaxseed in the bread correlated to each other in a similar way as they do in pure flaxseed. From these results it was concluded that SDG and hydroxycinnamic acids from flaxseed are not affected by bread-making conditions (Strandås *et al.*, 2008b). Added SDG has also been reported to be stable during heat treatment, fermentation and storage of dairy products such as yoghurt and ripened hard cheese, with the exception of whey drinks where a 25% loss occurred after 6 months of storage (Hyvärinen *et al.*, 2006b).

As well as lignans, flaxseed also contains other phenolic compounds such as phenolic acids and flavonoids. Free or bound phenolic acids that have been identified in flaxseed include *p*-coumaric acid, ferulic acid, caffeic acid, *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid, gentisic acid, salicylic acid, sinapic acid, syringic acid and vanillic acid (Kozlowska *et al.*, 1983; Dabrowski and Sosulski, 1984). Glucosides of *p*-coumaric (CoAG), ferulic (FeAG) and caffeic acid have been detected in flaxseed (Westcott and Muir, 1996a; Westcott and Muir, 2000; Eliasson *et al.*, 2003; Struijs *et al.*, 2007). Linocinnamarin (4-O- $\beta$ -Dglucopyranosyl-cinnamate; *p*-coumaric acid glucoside) was first isolated from flaxseed by Klosterman *et al.* (1955). The compound linusitamarin (methyl

3- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-5-methoxycinnamate) was identified by Luyengi *et al.* (1993). However, the structure of this compound was probably misinterpreted as far as the 3/5 substitution is concerned, which is a very uncommon substitution pattern (Westcott and Muir, 2000). It was more likely to be a ferulic acid glucoside (3-methoxy-4-O- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-cinnamate), as supported by NMR analyses performed by Westcott and Muir (2000). Variations in phenolic acid content in flaxseed are largely attributable to seasonal effects (Oomah *et al.*, 1995). Flavonoids such as herbacetin diglucoside (HDG) and kaempferol diglucoside have also been identified in flaxseed (Qui *et al.*, 1999). The flavonoid content has been shown to be influenced by both cultivar and environment (Oomah *et al.*, 1996).

#### 1.1.1 The lignan oligomer in flaxseed

In flaxseed, SDG does not exist as a free compound but is bound in a esterlinked oligomeric structure together with the hydroxycinnamic acid glucosides CoAG and FeAG (Bakke and Klosterman, 1956; Westcott and Muir, 2000; Struijs *et al.*, 2008), the flavonoid HDG (Struijs *et al.*, 2007), 3hydroxy-3-methylglutaric acid (HMGA) (Klosterman and Smith, 1954; Ford *et al.*, 2001; Figure 2), and possibly other minor constituents.



*Figure 2.* a) *p*-coumaric acid glucoside (MW=326 Da), b) ferulic acid glucoside (MW=356 Da), c) 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaric acid (MW=162 Da), d) herbacetin diglucoside (MW=626 Da). For numbering of glucose carbons, see Figure 1b.

The ester linkages are mainly between the C-6 hydroxyl groups of the glucose units of SDG (Figure 1) and the carboxylic groups of CoAG, FeAG or HMGA (Ford et al., 2001; Struijs et al., 2008; Figure 2), although FeA, *i.e.* the aglycone of FeAG, has been shown to bind also to the C-2 position of glucose (Struijs et al., 2008). Since HMGA possesses two carboxylic groups, it can bind to two glucose units from two separate SDG molecules, which means that the oligomer can elongate with SDG + HMGA in two directions. So far, there is only evidence of HMGA binding to one glucose residue in HDG, so it is still uncertain whether HDG is part of the backbone structure of the oligomer or whether it is a substituent (Struijs et al., 2007). There is no evidence of CoAG and FeAG binding to constituents other than the glucose units in the oligomer (Struijs et al., 2008). If CoAG or FeAG binds to the C-6 carbon in the glucose moiety of SDG or HDG it would serve as a terminal unit and thus block any further elongation of the oligomer in that direction. Struijs et al. (2009) therefore postulated that the size of the oligomer is determined by the level of inclusion of CoAG and FeAG. However, the molecular size distribution is wide, as shown by the single broad peak or 'hump' resulting from HPLC analyses of unhydrolysed extracts. As this peak is transformed to several sharp peaks upon alkaline hydrolysis (Westcott and Paton, 2001), its shape cannot be attributed to the chromatographic method. Instead, the broadness is the result of a wide mass distribution and/or differences in polarity between molecular species in the extract. A wide size distribution has also been shown by matrix-assisted laser desorption and ionisation time of flight mass spectroscopy (MALDI-TOF MS) performed on the unhydrolysed flaxseed extract (Struijs et al., 2009).

Strandås *et al.* (2008a) fractionated the oligomeric extract according to polarity by solid phase extraction (SPE) by elution with 50, 60 and 70 % aqueous methanol and found that the 60% fraction was the largest fraction by mass and that its composition was most similar to that of the whole extract. It was also shown that when moving from 50% to 70% methanol, the relative content of SDG increased whereas the relative content of CoAG and FeAG decreased. Moreover, by separating the three fractions according to size, Strandås *et al.* (2008a) showed that the 50% fraction contained smaller molecules than the 60% and 70% fractions. Thus, Strandås *et al.* (2008a) provide some support for the hypothesis of Struijs *et al.* (2009) in that the 50% methanolic fraction, which is most abundant in CoAG and FeAG, seems to contain the smallest molecules.

#### 1.1.2 Biosynthesis

Lignans, hydroxycinnamic acids and flavonoids originate from the phenylpropanoid pathway where the amino acid phenylalanine is the precursor (Davin and Lewis, 2003; Lepiniec et al., 2006). The starting point of lignan biosynthesis is the deamination of phenylalanine by the enzyme phenylalanine ammonium lyase to yield cinnamic acid. Additional enzymatic steps yield e.g. p-coumaric acid, caffeic acid and ferulic acid. These phenolic acids can be converted into coenzyme-A activated forms which are reduced to aldehydes and finally alcohols, of which coniferyl alcohol is one example (Davin and Lewis, 2003). Two coniferyl alcohol radicals can be captured and coupled by a so-called dirigent protein to form the lignan pinoresinol (Davin et al., 1997). The enzyme pinoresinol/lariciresinol reductase (Dinkova-Kostova et al., 1996; Hano et al., 2006) then mediates its conversion into first lariciresinol and then SECO, which can be further converted to matairesinol by the enzyme secoisolariciresinol dehydrogenase (Xia et al., 2001). The glucosylation of SECO to form SDG has been suggested to be mediated by the enzyme secoisolariciresinol glucosyltransferase (Ford et al., 2001) yet to be identified. Biosynthesis of the very diverse group of compounds that are collectively referred to as flavonoids starts with a reaction between coumaroyl-CoA deriving from the phenylpropanoid pathway and three malonoyl-CoA units deriving from the Krebs cycle (Lepiniec et al., 2006).

By studying flaxseed at different developmental stages by stable and radioisotope precursor/tracer experiments, Ford *et al.* (2001) investigated the biosynthetic pathway of the flaxseed lignan oligomer. They concluded that the level of SDG in flaxseed increases during seed development and peaks at seed maturation. Since virtually no free SDG could be detected, it was assumed to be efficiently incorporated into the oligomeric structures once formed. CoAG and FeAG were found to be included into the oligomer at early stages of seed development. Coupling of SDG to HMGA was suggested to occur by coupling of glucose moieties with coenzyme A-activated HMGA.

#### 1.1.3 Analysis of the phenolic compounds of the flaxseed lignan oligomer

Following the discovery of SDG by Bakke and Klosterman (1956) and its connection to the enterolignans, several methods for the analysis of lignans and other phenolic constituents of the fat free portion of flaxseed have been developed. In order to obtain repeatable results, defatting of flaxseed cake prior to further treatment is crucial (Kozlowska *et al.*, 1983; Harris and Haggerty, 1993).

Extraction of the oligomeric material is usually carried out with solvents such as dioxane/ethanol, aqueous ethanol or methanol (Bakke and Klosterman, 1956; Westcott and Muir, 1996a; Struijs *et al.*, 2009). Subcritical water extraction (Cacace and Mazza, 2006) and microwave-assisted extraction (Zhang and Xu, 2007) have also been employed. To release free compounds, mainly in the form of glucosides, the oligomeric extract can be treated with alkali (Rickard *et al.*, 1996; Westcott and Paton, 2001; Cacace and Mazza, 2006; Struijs *et al.*, 2009). The compounds may also be released from the oligomeric material as aglycones by enzymatic or acid hydrolysis (Obermeyer *et al.*, 1995; Mazur *et al.*, 1996; Liggins *et al.*, 2000; Charlet *et al.*, 2002). Without prior extraction of the oligomeric material, direct alkaline hydrolysis in water and microwave-assisted extraction with alkali have been used (Eliasson *et al.*, 2003; Beejmohun *et al.*, 2007).

Extraction for analysis of the other phenolic compounds such as phenolic acids and flavonoids has been carried out in a similar manner as when analysing lignans, *i.e.* with organic solvents (Bakke and Klosterman, 1956; Oomah *et al.*, 1995) or alcohols mixed with water (Kozlowska *et al.*, 1983; Amarowicz *et al.*, 1994; Oomah *et al.*, 1996; Westcott and Muir, 1996a; Ford *et al.*, 2001; Charlet *et al.*, 2002; Degenhardt *et al.*, 2002; Struijs *et al.*, 2009). The use of supercritical fluid (SCF) extraction has also been reported (Harris and Haggerty, 1993).

SDG, phenolic acids and flavonoids absorb light in the UV-region. They have been quantified and determined by liquid and gas chromatography and mass spectroscopic and NMR techniques (Bambagiotti-Alberti *et al.*, 1994; Mazur *et al.*, 1996; Westcott and Muir, 1996b; Chimichi *et al.*, 1999; Westcott *et al.*, 2000; Willför *et al.*, 2006; Struijs *et al.*, 2007). In quantifications, the differences in efficiency of different modes of extractions, hydrolyses and the use of different flaxseed raw material have resulted in a broad variation in yields. A selection of quantitative results for SECO is shown in Table 2.

Table 2. Overview of some analy-	tical methods for quantification of se	coisolariciresinol (SECO) in flaxseed or defa	tted flaxseed meal (DFF)
SECO yield (mg/kg)	Extraction	Hydrolysis	Reference
0.4 in seeds (solvent extr.) <sup>2</sup>	1. Ethanol/dioxane 1:1 v/v	n.a. <sup>3</sup>	Harris and Haggerty, 1993
1400 in seeds (SCF extr.) <sup>2</sup>	2. Methanol		
	3. SCF $CO_2$		
820 in seeds	n.a. <sup>3</sup>	β-glucuronidase	Obermeyer et al., 1995
2300  in DFF			
$4700 \text{ in DFF}^2$	Ethanol/dioxane 1:1 v/v	0.3 M sodium methoxide	Rickard et al., 1996
3000-9600 in DFF <sup>2</sup>	70 % aqueous methanol	0.1 M NaOH	Westcott and Muir, 1996b
3700 in seeds	n.a. <sup>3</sup>	β-glucuronidase, acid	Mazur et al., 1996
4200-12 600 in seeds	n.a. <sup>3</sup>	1.5 M HCl at 100 °C	Liggins et al., 2000
6000 in seeds	70% aqueous methanol	2 M HCl at 100 °C	Charlet et al., 2002
$1200 \text{ in seeds}^2$	70% aqueous methanol	1 M NaOH	Degenhardt et al., 2002
6200-13 500 in seeds <sup>2</sup>	n.a. <sup>3</sup>	Direct hydr. with 2 M NaOH	Eliasson et al., 2003
$5300 \text{ in seeds}^2$	Subcritical water extr.	1 M NaOH	Cacace and Mazza, 2006
5100 in pressed flaxseed cake <sup>2</sup>	Microwave-assisted extra methanc	ction and hydrolysis in 70% aqueous al and 0.1 M NaOH	Beejmohun et al., 2007
<sup>1</sup> The yield of DFF is ~50-60%	of seed weight; <sup>2</sup> yielded the dig	glucoside of SECO (SDG). Values for SI	OG (MW=686) have been

recalculated as SECO (MW=362);<sup>3</sup> n.a. = not applied

Due to varying methodologies, reports on quantities and types (e.g. free, ester-bound etc.) of phenolic acids in flaxseed are also diverging. Kozlowska et al. (1983) showed that the majority (59%) of phenolic acids in flaxseed were ester-bound. By extraction with 80% methanol, the content of esterbound phenolic acids in flaxseed was determined to be 320 mg/kg defatted flaxseed flour (DFF), the main constituents being p-hydroxybenzoic, transferulic and *trans-p*-coumaric acids. Free phenolic acids present at 220 mg/kg defatted flaxseed flour were mainly composed of trans- and cis-sinapic, phydroxybenzoic, trans-p-coumaric and vanillic acids. The content of residual (non-extractable with the method used) phenolic acids was 70 mg/kg DFF. Dabrowski and Sosulski (1984) found no free phenolic acids when extracting DFF with tetrahydrofuran. Alkaline hydrolysis released 730 mg phenolic acids/kg DFF (89% of total phenolic acids, the major forms being trans-ferulic and trans-sinapic acid). Harris and Haggerty (1993) reported a content of approximately 11 mg ferulic acid/kg in whole flaxseed. They did not use alkaline hydrolysis and thus could not detect ester-bound phenolic acids. Oomah et al. (1995) reported a content of 8000-10 000 mg total phenolic acids/kg flaxseed, of which 48-66% were assigned to esterified phenolic acids. Phenolic acids that were not released after extraction and alkaline hydrolysis were assumed to be ether-bound. Eliasson et al. (2003) reported a p-coumaric acid glucoside content of 1200-8500 mg/kg flaxseed (dry weight) and a ferulic acid glucoside content of 1600-5000 mg/kg using direct alkaline hydrolysis.

The mean total flavonoid content in flaxseed, measured by absorbance in 80% methanolic extract at 404 nm, has been reported to be 490-870 mg/kg DFF (Oomah *et al.*, 1996). Struijs *et al.* (2007) found 2000 mg/kg of HDG in flaxseed hulls, whereas Qui *et al.* (1999) only found 100 mg/kg in flaxseed.

#### 1.1.4 Metabolism and physiological effects

In the early 1980s, the enterolignans enterodiol (ED) and enterolactone (EL) were identified as lignans of animal origin that differed from plant lignans in carrying phenolic hydroxyl groups only in the *meta* position of the aromatic rings (Figure 3). They were found in urine, plasma and bile as glucuronide and sulphate conjugates, and in unconjugated forms in faeces (Setchell *et al.*, 1979; Axelson and Setchell, 1980; Setchell *et al.*, 1980; Axelson and Setchell, 1981; Setchell *et al.*, 1981).



*Figure 3.* Conversion of mammalian lignan precursors SDG and matairesinol to enterodiol and enterolactone by the gut microflora (adapted from Borriello *et al.*, 1985).

Later, SDG, matairesinol (Axelson et al. 1982), lariciresinol, pinoresinol (Heinonen et al., 2001) and lignin in plant cell walls (Begum et al., 2004) were identified as enterolignan precursors. Fibre-rich foods such as cereals, oilseeds, fruits and vegetables are rich sources of these precursors (Adlercreutz et al., 1982; Thompson et al., 1991; Mazur, 1998; Milder et al., 2005) (Table 1). SDG/SECO results in both EL and ED formation, with varying reports on which product is dominant (Axleson et al., 1982; Saarinen et al., 2002; Smeds et al., 2004). Flaxseed supplementation has been reported to mainly increase ED concentration (Nesbitt et al., 1999). ED and EL are formed by oxidation of precursors in a dose-dependent manner by facultative anaerobic bacteria in the colon of animals and humans (Axelson and Setchell, 1981; Setchell et al. 1981; Borrielo et al. 1985; Rickard et al., 1996; Clavel et al., 2006). Both the amount and the species composition of the bacteria seem to influence the production of enterolignans (Axelson and Setchell, 1981; Rowland et al., 1999; Clavel et al., 2005). The conversion has been shown to be enantiospecific (Saarinen et al., 2002; Jin et al., 2007a, b). Other factors that influence the bioavailability of enterolignans are precursor structure, intestinal transit time and time of exposure (Axelson et al., 1982; Saarinen et al., 2002; Smeds et al., 2004). The composition and the structure of the food may also play a role. For example, enterolignan formation increased in vitro in xylanase-treated rye bran (Aura et al., 2005).

The absorption of enterolignan precursors from flaxseed has been shown to increase when the seeds are crushed or milled (Kuijsten *et al.*, 2005). By *in vitro* fermentation with fresh human faecal inoculum, different flaxseed cultivars have been shown to produce different amounts of enterolignans (Thompson *et al.*, 1991), probably due to variations in precursor content between cultivars, but possibly also due to structural differences between the flaxseeds or the lignan oligomers. Chemically unchanged lignans (matairesinol, lariciresinol, isolariciresinol, secoisolariciresinol) have been detected in low amounts in human urine. The cause may be precursor overload or insufficient bacterial capacity (Bannwart *et al.*, 1989; Rickard *et al.*, 1996).

After absorption, ED and EL undergo enterohepatic circulation where glucuronic and sulphuric acid conjugates are formed in the liver, excreted in the bile, deconjugated by intestinal bacteria and then reabsorbed (Axelson and Setchell, 1980; Axelson and Setchell, 1981; Setchell *et al.*, 1981). Conjugated ED and EL are transported in plasma to tissues such as the kidneys and uterus (Axelson and Setchell, 1981; Rickard and Thompson, 1998). EL is normally the enterolignan found in the highest concentrations in blood and is also that most commonly examined in epidemiological studies (Setchell *et al.*, 1980b; Nesbitt *et al.*, 1999; Adlercreutz, 2007).

Enterolignans and their precursors are similar to steroids in size and polarity, and are sterically similar to  $17\beta$ -oestradiol (Figure 4) regarding the distance between the two -OH groups (Setchell et al., 1981; Tham et al., 1998). Indeed, they have been shown to interact with oestrogen metabolism at different levels. In circulation, enterolignans and precursors compete with endogenous hormones in binding to sex hormone-binding globulin (SHBG) (Martin et al., 1996; Schöttner et al., 1997; Schöttner et al., 1998; Hillerns et al., 2005) and influence its biosynthesis (Adlercreutz et al., 1987). Enterolignans have also been shown to interfere with oestradiol biosynthesis decreasing the activity of aromatase and  $17\beta$ -hydroxysteroid by dehydrogenase (Wang et al., 1994; Brooks and Thompson, 2005), which are the enzymes responsible for final conversion of steroid precursors to oestradiol. In addition, the enterolignans affect the activity of oestrogen receptors as observed as displacement of endogenous oestrogen, effects on gene transcription and cell proliferation (Mueller et al., 2004; Cosentino et al., 2007; Carreau et al., 2008) and in vivo effects on target tissues (Setchell et al., 1981; Waters and Knowler, 1982; Penttinen et al., 2007). Decreased formation and circulation of endogenous oestrogens limit stimulation of oestrogen-dependent tissues. A compound with weak oestrogenic effect can be anti-oestrogenic when competing with a compound that has a stronger

oestrogenic effect. The effect is dependent on the dose, timing and duration of exposure (Tou *et al.*, 1999). In a study by Mousavi and Adlercreutz (1992), oestradiol and enterolactone individually stimulated the growth of MCF-7 breast cancer cells *in vitro*, but together they inhibited each other's effect.



Figure 4. Structure of 17β-oestradiol.

The flaxseed lignans SDG/SECO and to some extent the enterolignans have been shown to possess antioxidant activities (Prasad, 1997b, 2000a; Kitts *et al.*, 1999; Niemeyer and Metzler, 2003; Eklund *et al.*, 2005; Hosseinian *et al.*, 2006, 2007), which may protect body lipids from peroxidation. SDG has a lower antioxidant capacity than SECO (Hosseinian *et al.*, 2007).

Only one report on possible adverse health effects of flaxseed lignans could be found in the literature (Jacobs *et al.*, 2005). EL and SECO were shown to activate the human pregnane X receptor (PXR), which mediates the induction of enzymes involved in steroid metabolism and xenobiotic detoxification. The authors suggest that this activation may possibly interfere with the action of the vast amount of pharmaceutical drugs that are cytochrome P4503A substrates.

#### 1.1.5 Health effects of mammalian and flaxseed lignans

#### Breast cancer

A reduced breast cancer risk has been reported for subjects with high urine and plasma levels of enterolignans (Ingram *et al.*, 1997; Dai *et al.*, 2002; Boccardo *et al.*, 2004). Blood concentrations of EL above 16 nmol/L were associated with a reduced risk of breast cancer in a study with 366 cases and 733 matched controls (Sonnestedt *et al.*, 2008b). However, in several other studies no association between plasma enterolignan levels and a reduced risk of breast cancer could be established (den Tonkelaar *et al.*, 2001; Kilkkinen *et al.*, 2004; Ward *et al.*, 2008). Recently, three meta-analyses on the relationship between breast cancer risk and plant lignan intake, enterolignan

exposure and blood EL levels (Velentziz *et al.*, 2009) showed little association between high plant lignan intake and a reduced cancer risk overall, but when the analysis was restricted to post-menopausal women a clear relationship was obtained. High enterolignan exposure was associated with a reduced breast cancer risk but blood EL levels were not. Conflicting results in human studies may depend on different biological properties of different tumour types or on too low concentrations of enterolignans in the populations studied (Sonnestedt *et al.*, 2008b).

Different results from studies on the protective effects of flaxseed lignans have also been reported. In an intervention study performed by Thompson *et al.* (2005), a daily intake of flaxseed for a month by 19 newly diagnosed postmenopausal breast cancer patients indicated protective effects of flaxseed lignans. Pure SDG when administered to rats at the early promotion stage of mammary tumourigenesis was shown to reduce the number of tumours. At the same time, urinary excretion of enterolignans was shown to increase significantly (Thompson *et al.*, 1996b). The total volume of established and new mammary tumours was significantly decreased in rats that were fed SDG or flax. The effect was inversely related to urinary excretion of enterolignans (Thompson *et al.*, 1996a). SDG also resulted in a reduction in the progression of mammary tumourigenesis in rats (Rickard *et al.*, 1999), and pulmonary metastasis (Li *et al.*, 1999) and distant metastasis, but not recurrence after surgical removal of tumours in mice (Chen *et al.*, 2006).

Apart from hormonal effects, the antioxidant properties of lignans have also been suggested to play a role in cancer protection (Prasad, 2000a). Protective effects of flaxseed against breast cancer that may not be attributed to lignans alone have also been observed. When SDG and flaxseed oil were administered together, they showed a synergistic protective effect (Chen *et al.*, 2006), possibly related in part to the alpha-linolenic acid in the oil (Thiébaut *et al.*, 2009).

A high-fibre diet with its associated lignans seems to account for the cancer protective effects (Adlercreutz, 2007; Sonnestedt *et al.*, 2008a) but the exact role of lignans is still unclear. The main theory seems to be that the lignans modulate the activity of endogenous oestrogen but it is possible that *e.g.* enterolignans are only markers for a healthy diet and that the true underlying mechanisms have not yet been discovered (Adlercreutz, 2007; Saarinen *et al.*, 2007).

#### Prostate cancer

High levels of enterolactone in prostatic fluid have been suggested to indicate a lower risk of prostate cancer (Morton *et al.*, 1997). A reduction in

prostate tumour proliferation, prostate-specific antigen and total and free testosterone levels has been observed in patients with prostate cancer given a low-fat diet containing flaxseed (Demark-Wahnefried *et al.*, 2001, 2004, 2008).

Inclusion of 5% flaxseed in the diet inhibited growth and development of prostatic carcinoma in mice, possibly due to hormonal effects of the flaxseed lignans (Lin *et al.*, 2002). In male rats with experimental cancer, a 5% lifetime diet reduced prostate cell proliferation rate and prostate weight without a rise in sex hormone levels. A 10% lifetime diet, on the other hand, resulted in higher serum testosterone and oestradiol levels and prostate cell proliferation (Tou *et al.*, 1999). EL and ED may also contribute to the protective effects, as indicated by an *in vitro* study where these lignans reduced the growth of three and two different prostate cancer cell lines, respectively (Lin *et al.*, 2001).

#### Colorectal cancer

Dietary lignans have also been suggested to protect against colon cancer (Adlercreutz, 2002). However, studies on the effect of flaxseed lignans against colorectal cancer are sparse. Diets supplemented with flaxseed, flax meal or SDG showed a protective effect against colon cancer in rats in the long term (Jenab and Thompson, 1996). A reduction in early markers for colorectal cancer in rats fed flaxseed flour or flaxseed meal was also shown. The reduction was not linearly correlated to flaxseed intake (Serraino and Thompson, 1992). Induced colorectal cancer in multiple intestinal neoplasia (Min) mice was significantly reduced by flaxseed supplemented diets (Bommareddy *et al.*, 2009). However, in other studies no effects of flaxseed or (-)-SECO were obtained in Min mice models (van Kranen *et al.*, 2003; Oikarinen *et al.*, 2005; Pajari *et al.*, 2006).

#### Cardiovascular disease

Cardiovascular disease is a collective term for coronary heart disease (heart attacks), cerebrovascular disease, elevated blood pressure (hypertension), peripheral artery disease, rheumatic heart disease, congenital heart disease and heart failure (WHO, 2009a). Important risk factors for developing cardiovascular disease include diabetes, hypertension, smoking, obesity, high plasma cholesterol (hypercholesterolaemia), lack of physical activity and heredity (WHO, 2009b). Cardioprotective effects of flaxseed or enterolignans have been observed in humans and animals and may be due to inhibition of lipid peroxidation or changes in SHBG production, oestrogenic activity and circulation of cholesterol (Fahrat *et al.*, 1996;

Vanharanta et al., 1999; Chisolm and Steinberg, 2000; Vanharanta et al., 2002; Lucas et al., 2004).

High serum enterolactone concentrations have been correlated with a decreased level of *in vivo* lipid peroxidation (Vanharanta *et al.*, 2002), and are also protective against acute coronary heart events in men as suggested by a case-control study (Vanharanta *et al.*, 1999). In a prospective cohort study, men with elevated serum EL levels had a reduced risk of coronary heart or cardiovascular disease-related mortality (Vanharanta *et al.*, 2003). The lignan phenolic complex did not affect plasma lipid concentrations, antioxidant capacity or endothelial function in healthy postmenopausal women (Hallund *et al.*, 2006a, b). In hypercholesterolaemic subjects, however, a daily intake of the complex reduced plasma LDL and cholesterol levels by more than 20% (Zhang *et al.*, 2008). Flaxseed supplementation had a modest effect on plasma cholesterol levels in healthy menopausal women (Dodin *et al.*, 2008).

The phenolic complex, SDG and flaxseed low in alpha-linolenic acid (<3%) were shown to decrease the level of atherosclerotic lesions and plaques in hypercholesterolaemic rabbits (Prasad et al., 1998; Prasad, 1999, 2005). Most experimental animal studies have shown a reduction in plasma cholesterol levels following consumption of flaxseed or SDG (Prasad et al., 1998; Prasad, 1999, 2005; Lucas et al., 2004; Pellizzon et al., 2007). However, in a study by Prasad (1997a), the cholesterol levels in rabbits increased after consumption of flaxseed. Furthermore, SDG and its oligomer, when fed to rats, were shown to significantly increase the amount of cholesterol in the liver and liver lipids and to decrease the liver and plasma content of  $\alpha$ - and  $\gamma$ -tocopherols in rats (Frank *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, flaxseed was found to cause a significant reduction in  $\alpha$ - and  $\gamma$ tocopherol levels in rats (Ratnayake et al., 1992). Reduced levels of vitamin E,  $\gamma$ -tocopherol in particular, have been associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease (Hensley et al., 2004). Other effects on lipid metabolism were shown in a study by Fukumitsu et al. (2008), where SDG and ED had beneficial effects on lipid metabolism in diet-induced fat accumulation in mice. Their findings suggest that the compounds regulate adipogenesis-related gene expressions by increasing the PPAR $\gamma$  DNAbinding activity. PPAR $\gamma$  is a transcription factor (*i.e.* a protein that binds to specific DNA sequences and controls transcription) that is involved in regulation of adipogenesis, lipid and glucose metabolism (Rosen et al., 2000)

#### Diabetes

Diabetes is a chronic disease caused by deficiency in insulin production or by ineffectiveness of the insulin produced, resulting in increased blood

glucose levels which cause damage to body systems, in particular the blood vessels and nerves (WHO, 2009c).

Hypercholesterolaemic postmenopausal women showed reduced glucose and insulin levels after eating flaxseed (Lemay *et al.*, 2002). In another group of hypercholesterolaemic subjects, the phenolic complex reduced the fasting plasma glucose levels (Zhang *et al.*, 2008). In a study by Pan *et al.* (2007), hypercholesterolaemic postmenopausal women diagnosed with type II diabetes showed small improvements in long-term glycaemic control but no effect on fasting glucose or insulin sensitivity after eating low amounts of the phenolic complex for eight weeks. SDG has been demonstrated to prevent or delay the development of type I and II diabetes in diabetes-prone rats, probably by decreasing oxidative stress in body tissues (Prasad, 2000b, 2001).

### 1.2 Flaxseed oil

Among dietary plant oils, flaxseed oil has one of the highest contents of the essential omega-3 fatty acid alpha-linolenic acid (ALA), with amounts of 50-60% (Velasco and Goffman, 2000; Hall *et al.*, 2009). The second and third most dominant fatty acids in flaxseed oil are oleic acid and the essential omega-6 fatty acid linoleic acid (LA), with 11-29 and 9-21% respectively (Green and Marshall, 1981; Velasco and Goffman, 2000; Wakjira *et al.*, 2004; Choo *et al.*, 2007). The oil content in the seed is in the range 22-47% (Velasco and Goffman, 2000; Eliasson *et al.*, 2003; Wakjira *et al.*, 2004). Both oil content and fatty acid composition depend on factors such as cultivar, location, environmental conditions and agricultural practices, the importance of which have been reviewed by Oomah and Kenaschuk (1995). Flaxseed lipids consist of more than 90% triacylglycerols, with the remaining part being free fatty acids, phospholipids, sterols and sterol esters (El Shattory, 1976).

The unsaponifiable portion of flaxseed oil, mainly consisting of sterols and tocopherols, comprises about 0.4-1.4% of total lipids (Painter and Nesbitt, 1943; Choo *et al.*, 2007). The main sterols are sitosterol, cycloartenol and campesterol, together making up 75% of total sterols (Schwartz *et al.*, 2008). The total tocopherol content in flaxseed is 9.3-16.9 mg/100 g seed (Oomah *et al.*, 1997; Velasco and Goffman, 2000), with the major tocopherol being  $\gamma$ -tocopherol, which makes up 95-100% of total tocopherols (Oomah *et al.*, 1997; Velasco and Goffman, 2000) and is present at levels of 11.2-52.0 mg/100 g oil (Choo *et al.*, 2007; Schwartz *et al.*, 2008). Other tocopherols are  $\alpha$ -tocopherol, with a content of 0.0-9.1 mg/100 g oil (Choo *et al.*, 2007; Schwartz *et al.*, 2008) and  $\delta$ -tocopherol at

0.0-0.3 mg/100 g seed (Oomah *et al.*, 1997; Velasco and Goffman, 2000) or 0.95 mg/100 g oil (Schwartz *et al.*, 2008). The tocopherol content is mainly influenced by cultivar but also by location and year (Oomah *et al.*, 1997). Other minor constituents that have been identified in flaxseed oil include the tocopherol analogue plastochromanol-8 (Velasco and Goffman, 2000), the carotenoids  $\beta$ -carotene, lutein and violaxanthin (Pretova and Vojtekova, 1985), squalene and aliphatic hydrocarbons (Herchi *et al.*, 2009) and geranyl geraniol (Fedeli *et al.*, 1966). Flaxseed oil has also been found to contain 768-3073 mg/kg of total phenolic acids and 127-256 mg/kg of total flavonoids (Choo *et al.*, 2007).

Apart from agroclimatic conditions, the composition of vegetable oils also depends on the extraction procedure and the treatment of the oil. A refined oil is the result of treating a crude oil by a multiple-step procedure often including *e.g.* filtration, degumming, neutralisation, bleaching, deodorisation and winterisation (Karlshamns AB, 1989). These procedures rid the oil of *e.g.* solid particles, phospholipids, proteins, carbohydrates, free fatty acids, waxes and compounds giving unwanted taste and odour and also prolong the shelf-life of the oil. However, the procedures may also decrease the amount of desirable minor compounds present (Kamal-Eldin, 2005). The so-called virgin or cold-pressed oils are extracted under milder conditions, purified by filtration or settling and not subjected to other refining steps (Moreau and Kamal-Eldin, 2009).

Minor compounds of vegetable oils, especially tocopherols, phytosterols and phenolic compounds such as those found in olive oil and the lignans in sesame oil, have attracted increased attention lately due to their biological and physiological effects and their potential ability to improve human health (Kamal-Eldin, 2005).

#### 1.2.1 Significance of omega-3 fatty acids for health

The omega-3 (n-3) fatty acid ALA (18:3 n-3) and the omega-6 (n-6) fatty acid LA (18:2 n-6) (Figure 5) are essential fatty acids in that they are needed to maintain health (Burr and Burr, 1930) but cannot be synthesised from any dietary precursors by humans so they have to be present in the diet. As components of cell membranes, n-3 and n-6 fatty acids increase membrane fluidity and play an important role for the function of cell membranes and the nervous system (Davis and Kris-Etherton, 2003). When naming fatty acids, the number to the left of the colon signifies the number of carbon atoms and the number to the right the degree of unsaturation, *i.e.* the number of double bonds in the carbon chain. The omega-3 and omega-6 (or n-3 and n-6) numbers describe the position of the first double bond

counting from the methyl end of the chain. ALA and LA can be elongated (*i.e.* chain length increases) and desaturated (*i.e.* the number of double bonds increases) to longer-chain n-3 and n-6 fatty acids, respectively, by a series of enzymatic reactions that take place in the endoplasmic reticulum and the peroxisomes (Figure 6). Double bonds are inserted by enzymes called desaturases. The position of insertion is counted from the carboxyl end of the chain and is given a delta number ( $\Delta$ = delta). Higher animals lack the ability to insert double bonds beyond  $\Delta$ 9. Chain length is increased by enzymes called elongases. The most important products of these elongation and desaturation reactions are the highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFA; chain length  $\geq$ 20 carbons and  $\geq$ 3 double bonds) eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and arachidonic acid (AA).



*Figure 5.* Chemical structure of the essential fatty acids alpha-linolenic acid (18:3 n-3; above), and linoleic acid (18:2 n-6; below).



*Figure 6.* The metabolic pathway of omega-3 (n-3) and omega-6 (n-6) fatty acids. Adapted from Voss *et al.*, 1991.

EPA and AA are substrates for the production of hormone-like compounds called eicosanoids. The eicosanoids from EPA have weak activity and inhibit inflammation, while eicosanoids from AA have strong activity that promotes inflammation (Harper and Jacobson, 2001). Excessive action of eicosanoids from the n-6 fatty acid AA is associated with health disorders such as coronary heart disease (Lands, 2001). On the other hand, there is strong epidemiological evidence that consumption of oils rich in n-3 fatty acids such as ALA, EPA and DHA lowers the incidence of coronary heart disease (Dyerberg *et al.*, 1978; de Lorgeril *et al.*, 1994; Lanzmann-Petithory, 2001; Harper and Jacobson, 2001).

At present, the Swedish National Food Administration recommends an intake of 5-10% energy of polyunsaturated fatty acids per day, of which 1 %-unit should be n-3 fatty acids (Livsmedelsverket, 2009). Not only a specific dietary intake of n-3 fatty acids but also the balance between n-3 and n-6 fatty acids may be important (Lanzmann-Petithory, 2001; Simopoulos, 2008). The elongation and desaturation of ALA and LA involve the same enzymes (Figure 6), so the intake of LA may affect the conversion of ALA into longer-chain metabolites and *vice versa* (Simopoulos, 2008). In an evolutionary perspective, the n-6 fatty acids in our diet have increased recently due to extensive use of vegetable oils with very high LA/ALA ratios in food manufacturing and also because farm animals are fed diets high in LA, leading to meat that is 'enriched' in n-6 fatty acids (Simopoulos, 2007).

Dietary sources with high ALA/LA ratios include flaxseed, perilla and camelina oil, and walnuts (Harper and Jacobson, 2001; Hall *et al.*, 2009). Apart from being formed in the body by elongation and desaturation of ALA, n-3 HUFA can also be ingested through food. Fish is an important source of n-3 HUFA.

#### 1.2.2 Flaxseed oil as an ingredient in fish feed

Long chain n-3 fatty acids such as EPA, DPA and DHA are readily available in fish oil, which is a common lipid ingredient in commercial fish feed. Lipids in tissues reflect the lipid content in the diet (Sargent, 2002) and the presence of n-3 HUFA in feed also results in fish flesh with high relative amounts of these fatty acids, which are beneficial for human consumers. However, fish oil resources for fish feed are becoming scarce, so alternative lipid sources must be found (FAO, 2002). For this reason, partial or

complete substitution of fish oil with vegetable oils in fish feed is being assessed.

Salmonids, *e.g.* Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*), have some ability to convert ALA and LA, present in high concentrations in many vegetable oils, to long-chain HUFA (Sargent, 2002). Flaxseed oil contains high levels of n-3 desaturation/elongation precursors in the form of ALA, so it should be a good candidate for fish oil substitution in fish feeds (Tocher *et al.*, 2002). Numerous studies on Atlantic salmon and rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) have shown that feed containing flaxseed oil does not have any negative effects on fish growth (Bell *et al.*, 1997, 2003, 2004; Tocher *et al.*, 2000; Menoyo *et al.*, 2005). However, despite observed increased desaturation and elongation activities (Bell *et al.*, 1997; Tocher *et al.*, 2002), flaxseed oil diets and other vegetable oil diets have failed to maintain the n-3 HUFA levels in fish tissues (Thomassen and Røsjø, 1989; Tocher *et al.*, 2000; Bell *et al.*, 2003; Menoyo *et al.*, 2005; Chen *et al.*, 2006).

The sesame seed lignan sesamin (Figure 1c) has been shown to increase the relative amount of DHA in white muscle of rainbow trout fed a diet with fish oil completely replaced with vegetable oils (Trattner *et al.*, 2008). A combination of flaxseed oil and sesamin led to lower production of DHA than a 6:4 (v/v) mixture of flaxseed oil and sunflower oil and sesamin in rainbow trout. The fact that sesamin added to the mixed oil resulted in higher levels of DHA compared with sesamin added to flaxseed oil was surprising, since flaxseed oil contains more ALA than the mixed oil and thus more substrate for DHA formation. The negative effect of flaxseed oil on n-3 HUFA formation has been proposed to be caused by the high ALA/LA ratio in flaxseed oil (Tocher *et al.*, 2002). However, the effect might also be attributable to minor components present in the flaxseed oil (Kamal-Eldin, 2005) possibly interfering with the desaturation and elongation of ALA or with other steps in lipid uptake and metabolism.

Even though flaxseed oil has so far not been proven to maintain the levels of n-3 HUFA in fish flesh, it may still have an advantage over other vegetable oils in that it results in fish flesh with a high ALA content and thus a high total n-3 fatty acid content (Menoyo *et al.*, 2005; Chen *et al.*, 2006). The effects of different diets on the lipid composition of fish may differ in different fish species, in fish at different developmental stages and in anadromous fish such as salmon and trout due to *e.g.* fresh/salt water transfer (Bell *et al.*, 1997; Tocher *et al.*, 2000; Sargent, 2002; Zheng *et al.*, 2005). There is also a large individual variation in the ability of fish to maintain high levels of n-3 HUFA in their flesh (Schlechtriem *et al.*, 2007).

## 2 Objectives

The specific aims of this thesis were:

To develop an HPLC method for the quantification of SDG in flaxseed (Paper I).

To identify two major peaks that elute before SDG in the HPLC chromatograms from the method developed in Paper I, and to obtain preliminary information on the flaxseed lignan oligomer by chromatographic and spectroscopic analyses (Paper II).

To elucidate the structure of the flaxseed lignan oligomer by chromatographic and spectroscopic analyses (Paper III).

To test the hypothesis that higher SDG to hydroxycinnamic acid ratio in flaxseed is associated with smaller lignan oligomer size (Paper IV).

To test the effect of purified flaxseed triacylglycerols and sesamin on the fatty acid composition in white muscle of rainbow trout (Paper V).
# 3 Analytical procedures

# 3.1 Work related to the lignan oligomer of flaxseed (Papers I-IV)

An outline of the work resulting in Papers I-III is shown in Figure 7. For more detailed descriptions of the procedures presented below, see Papers I-IV.

In Paper I, SDG was purified from a flaxseed extract by reversed and normal phase column chromatography for use as an external standard in quantifications and for future reference. The identity and purity of the isolated SDG were determined by proton nuclear magnetic resonance (<sup>1</sup>H NMR). A high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) method for the quantitative determination of SDG in flaxseed was developed and used for analysis of SDG in Swedish (n = 14) and Danish (n = 15) flaxseed cultivars. SDG was detected by ultra violet-diode array detection (UV-DAD) and its content in flaxseed was calculated with the help of a standard curve produced using the purified SDG at the concentrations 0, 20, 40, 80, 120 and 160 µg/mL (y = 3.69x - 9.21;  $R^2 = 0.999$ ).

In Paper II, an unhydrolysed oligomeric flaxseed extract (referred to in the paper as the whole polymer) was fractionated with 0-100% methanol in 10 %-unit intervals on a C18 reversed phase solid phase extraction (SPE) column yielding 11 fractions. These fractions were analysed by HPLC. The main UV-absorbing fractions, shown to be eluted with 50, 60 and 70 % aqueous methanol, and the whole extract were analysed by one- and twodimensional NMR techniques (<sup>1</sup>H NMR, COSY, HSQC-DEPT and HMBC) to obtain structural information on the oligomer. The same oligomeric fractions were also subjected to alkaline hydrolysis and analysed by HPLC.



Figure 7. Overview of analytical procedures and outcomes of Papers I-III.

SDG was identified by comparison with a standard (Paper I) and preliminary information on the two other major peaks in the chromatograms was obtained by LC-MS and NMR. The compounds representing the two HPLC-peaks were isolated from an aqueous SPE fraction by normal phase column chromatography and identified by NMR. The sugar content and the yield of the whole extract were determined by qualitative sugar analysis (Theander *et al.*, 1995) and gravimetrical determination, respectively.

In Paper III, the major fraction of the oligomeric extract was obtained by washing the whole extract on a SPE column with 50% aqueous methanol followed by elution with 60% methanol. To elucidate the structure of the SDG-complex, the fraction was analysed by different NMR techniques (<sup>1</sup>H NMR, <sup>13</sup>C NMR, TOCSY, HSQC-DEPT and HMBC). Standard SDG (see above) and HMGA were used as reference compounds.

In Paper IV, further insights were sought into the properties of the lignan oligomer. Seeds from seven flax cultivars (Agraf 17, Biltstar, Early Bird, Niagara, Talon, Taurus, Vimy) with different ratios of SDG to CoAG and FeAG (Westcott and Paton, 2001; Eliasson *et al.*, 2003) were used. Oligomeric extracts were obtained by extracting DFF according to Struijs *et al.* (2007) and the extracts were purified by reversed phase C18 SPE. The yields of the oligomeric extracts were determined gravimetrically. The extracts were analysed by reversed phase ultra-high performance liquid chromatography (UHPLC) and gel permeation chromatography (GPC) using the same columns and conditions as in Struijs *et al.* (2007).

For quantification of CoAG, FeAG, HDG and SDG, the oligomeric extracts were subjected to alkaline hydrolysis with 75 mM sodium hydroxide according to Struijs *et al.* (2009). Hydrolysed samples were purified by SPE. Samples were analysed by UHPLC-MS and chromatographic peaks were assigned by comparison with their mass spectra. The amounts of CoAG, FeAG, HDG and (+)-SDG and (-)-SDG in the extracts were determined with reference to standards.

Finally, fractions of the unhydrolysed lignan oligomeric extracts eluted from SPE columns with 50, 60 and 70 % aq. methanol were collected. The percentage contribution of each fraction to their combined yield was determined gravimetrically. Combined fractions were analysed by matrix assisted laser desorption/ionisation time of flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS).

# 3.2 Work related to flaxseed oil (Paper V)

A feeding trial was conducted in which rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) were fed six experimental diets containing purified flaxseed triacylglycerols, unaltered flaxseed oil or a mixed oil (sunflower oil/flaxseed oil), with and without the addition of the sesame lignan sesamin. The analytical procedures undertaken are summarised below. For further details see Paper V.

### 3.2.1 Feed preparation

By essentially following the method of Fuster *et al.* (1998), a commercial refined food-grade flaxseed oil was purified by adsorption chromatography, to obtain a purified flaxseed oil (PFSO) that was composed mainly of triacylglycerols (TAGs). Different batches of unaltered flaxseed oil (FSO) were mixed in order to obtain a  $\alpha$ -linolenic (ALA) and linoleic acid (LA) composition that was comparable to that in the PFSO. (+)- $\gamma$ -tocopherol and (+)- $\alpha$ -tocopherol were added to the PFSO and the FSO to make their tocopherol levels comparable. Among other ingredients, diets were prepared to contain 22% defatted fish meal and 22% vegetable oil. Sesamin (98% purity) was added at 0.58 g 100<sup>-1</sup> g feed according to Trattner *et al.* (2008). The six diets used were: Flaxseed oil (FSO), flaxseed oil with sesamin (PFSO+S), flaxseed and sunflower oil mixed 6:4 v/v (MO), and the mixed oil with sesamin (MO+S).

### 3.2.2 Fish

A total of 114 juvenile rainbow trout from northern Sweden were divided into six groups and each group was fed one of the six experimental diets (see above) *ad libitum* for 58 days. At harvest, the fish were dissected and then kept at -80 °C until further analysis. Only fish that had eaten the feed and that had at least doubled their weight were analysed for fatty acid composition and tocopherol and sesamin levels.

### 3.2.3 Lipid extraction and determination of fatty acids

Lipids from white muscle and diets were extracted following the method of Hara and Radin (1978). For fatty acid analysis, total lipids of fish white muscle were separated into TAG and PL according to Pickova *et al.* (1997). The total lipids from the diets and TAG and PL from white muscle were methylated according to Appelqvist (1968) and analysed by GC using the same column and conditions as in Trattner *et al.* (2008).

#### 3.2.4 Sesamin and tocopherol determinations

For the analysis of sesamin and  $\alpha$ - and  $\gamma$ -tocopherols in oils, feed and fish white muscle, lipids were dissolved in hexane and analysed by HPLC using the same system, column and conditions as described by Moazzami and Kamal-Eldin (2006). The concentrations of  $\alpha$ - and  $\gamma$ -tocopherol and sesamin were determined by reference to authentic standards.

# 4 Results and discussion

# 4.1 Work related to the lignan oligomer of flaxseed (Papers I-IV)

In 1998, at the beginning of this work, the nature of the extractable phenolic polymeric material first described by Klosterman and Smith (1954) was not known. Moreover, reports on the SDG/SECO content in flaxseed showed great variation (Table 2), and values were often surprisingly low considering the high amounts of mammalian lignans excreted in urine of humans and animals after flaxseed ingestion (Axelson *et al.*, 1982; Thompson *et al.*, 1991). Our aim was thus to develop a quantitative method for the analysis of SDG in flaxseed and to learn more about the 'complex' in which SDG is included. This work is described in detail in Papers I-IV (see Appendix) and is summarised below.

#### 4.1.1 Method development

In Paper I, defatted flaxseed flour (DFF) was extracted with 1,4dioxane/95% ethanol (1:1, v/v) and hydrolysed in methanolic base according to Bakke and Klosterman (1956). Upon repeated HPLC analyses, it was discovered that the first two peaks (later assigned to *p*-coumaric acid and ferulic acid glucosides, see below) were diminished and some extra peaks eluted later, close to the SDG peak. When hydrolysis was carried out with aqueous base instead, the two peaks remained stable, suggesting formation of less polar derivatives due to transesterification of carboxylic groups in the methanolic system. The yield of SDG was unaffected by the method of hydrolysis, but the separation of HPLC peaks around the SDG peak was better when hydrolysis was performed in water. Thus, aqueous base hydrolysis was chosen for further work.



Figure 8. Typical chromatogram of a base-hydrolysed extract from flaxseed.

Figure 8 presents a typical HPLC chromatogram of the base-hydrolysed extract from flaxseed. The HPLC gradient developed in this study provided very good separation for SDG and easier interpretation of its UV-DAD and LC-MS spectra.

The method developed was used to study the variation in SDG content in flaxseed cultivars grown in Sweden (n = 14) and Denmark (n = 15). The level of SDG in these 29 samples varied between 11700 and 24100 mg/kg in DFF and between 6100 and 13300 mg/kg in whole seeds. These levels are in agreement with those reported by Rickard *et al.* (1996), Westcott and Muir (1996b), Liggins *et al.* (2000) and Charlet *et al.* (2002) (Table 2; yields reported as SECO). Eliasson *et al.* (2003) analysed 27 different cultivars with direct alkaline hydrolysis and reported an approximately two-fold higher mean SDG yield than was observed using the method developed in the present study (Table 2). The difference may be due to the efficiency of the analytical procedure, but may also be due to differences between years, cultivars or growing locations. Westcott and Muir (1996b) found a two-fold variation in flaxseed lignan concentration to be mainly due to cultivation year, with flax variety of secondary importance and cultivation location of less importance.

# 4.1.2 Isolation and structural determination of *p*-coumaric and ferulic acid glucoside

In Paper II, LC-MS of the first two peaks in the chromatograms of the hydrolysed oligomeric extract from the HPLC method developed (see above) (at 12.8 and 14.6 min; Figure 8) showed ions corresponding to 4-O- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-*p*-coumaric acid and 4-O- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-ferulic acid. The structures of these compounds were determined by NMR and were found to be in accordance with NMR data presented by Luyengi *et al.* (1993) and Westcott *et al.* (2000) for 4-O- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-*p*-coumaric acid and 4-O- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-ferulic acid, respectively.

#### 4.1.3 Structural analyses of the lignan oligomer

Paper II also sought insights into the structure of the flaxseed oligomer (called polymer in that paper). The yield of the oligomeric extract from DFF was 2.9% as determined gravimetrically. Sugar analysis showed that the only sugar residue present in the extract was glucose. Three fractions of the whole extract were obtained by eluting an SPE-column with 50, 60 and 70 % aqueous methanol. Figure 9 shows HPLC chromatograms of the whole extract and the three fractions. The broad peaks were transformed to sharp peaks upon hydrolysis (Figure 8). Thus, the broad nature of the unhydrolysed peaks suggested a variation in e.g. molecular weight, substituent and/or substitution pattern. On the basis of peak area, the 60% fraction was the largest fraction (approx. 64%), followed by the 50% fraction (approx. 23%) and the 70% fraction (approx. 13%). The whole extract and its three fractions were similar with regard to the nature of their components absorbing in the UV range used for detection (210-400 nm). However, the relative ratios of the components of the three oligomeric fractions differed. The HPLC chromatogram of the hydrolysed 60% fraction, the major part of the oligomeric extract, was most similar to that of the whole extract. The 70% fraction was rather similar to the 60% fraction but had a slightly higher proportion of SDG compared with other components. The 50% fraction, on the other hand, was clearly different in containing a much smaller proportion of SDG and a much higher proportion of the p-coumaric and ferulic acid glucosides. It was possible to observe the same structural variations by <sup>1</sup>H NMR analysis. Similar results regarding the relative size and composition of the three fractions were obtained by Strandås et al. (2008a).



*Figure 9.* Chromatogram of an unhydrolysed oligomeric flaxseed extract (whole extract) and three fractions obtained by eluting an SPE column with 50, 60 and 70 % aqueous methanol.

Paper III further investigated the structure of the oligomers by performing additional NMR-analyses on the 60% methanolic fraction from SPE of the whole extract. <sup>1</sup>H NMR analysis revealed signals corresponding to SDG and probably CoAG and FeAG, as well as the CH<sub>3</sub> and CH<sub>2</sub> groups of 3hydroxy-3-methylglutaric acid (HMGA; Figure 2). <sup>13</sup>C NMR showed peaks for SDG and HMGA residues but no visible peaks for the other phenols (mainly CoAG and FeAG). The carboxylic carbon signal assigned to HMGA was 2 ppm upfield from that of the free HMGA, indicating that HMGA is esterified in symmetrical structures. HSQC-DEPT revealed two types of strong cross peaks, showing that the C-6 of glucose in SDG (Figure 2) was present in both non-esterified and ester-linked forms (Farah et al., 1992). Since some C-6 of the glucose residues in SDG were ester-linked and some were not, some glucose residues must be in terminal position in the oligomer. This finding was confirmed by TOCSY, which showed two types of spin systems for the protons at positions 7, 8 and 9, where signals from the linked SDG were downfield from those of terminal SDG. HMBC

revealed that the ester link is between the carboxylic carbon of HMGA and some of the C-6 of glucose. Taken together, these results suggested a linear and symmetrical structure composed of SDG and HMGA units.

The structure of the oligomer was elucidated from two types of calculations: 1) the ratio of terminal versus linked glucose residues in the oligomer; and 2) the ratio between SDG and HMGA units. The ratio of terminal versus intermediate SDG groups was roughly calculated as 1:4 from the <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectrum by integration of the peaks of terminal and linked glucose. Integration of peaks in the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum, two protons at positions 8 and four protons at positions 7 of SDG and the  $-CH_2$ - groups of HMGA gave an SDG/HMGA ratio of 0.56/0.44. The average numbers of SDG and HMGA molecules in this oligomer were calculated as 4.67 and 3.67, respectively. Both calculations support an average structure of approx. 4000 Da, containing two terminal and eight linked glucose residues (Figure 10). These results are in line with those of Ford *et al.* (2001) which suggest a family of SDG-HMGA dimers, trimers, tetramers and so forth to be present in mature flaxseeds. The work presented in Paper III was the first to reveal the structure of SDG oligomers in flaxseed.



Figure 10. The structure of the flaxseed lignan oligomer (average size, n = 3).

#### 4.1.4 Further insights into the nature of the flaxseed lignan oligomer

It was shown recently that the flavonoid herbacetin diglucoside (HDG) is part of the oligomeric structure (Struijs *et al.*, 2007). In addition, as evidenced by NMR analyses, the hydroxycinnamic acids CoAG and FeAG are incorporated into the oligomer directly ester-linked to the C-6 of the glucose units of SDG (Struijs *et al.*, 2008) (Figure 2). Since the linking molecule HMGA also binds to the C-6 position of the glucose moieties (Ford *et al.*, 2001; Struijs *et al.*, 2008; Paper III), the binding of the

hydroxycinnamic acids to this site blocks further growth of the oligomer in that direction. Struijs *et al.* (2009) therefore proposed that the incorporation of CoAG and FeAG determines the size of the oligomer. All previous studies on flaxseed lignan oligomers have been performed using a single cultivar (Ford *et al.*, 2001; Strandås *et al.*, 2008a; Struijs *et al.*, 2009) and thus Paper IV aimed at testing the size determination hypothesis of Struijs *et al.* (2009) by comparing seven different flaxseed cultivars with different SDG to hydroxycinnamic acid ratios.

The molar contributions of SDG, CoAG, FeAG and HDG and the molar ratios of SDG to hydroxycinnamic acids in DFF, as determined by UHPLC analysis of base-hydrolysed extracts, are shown in Table 3. Results from UHPLC analyses of the unhydrolysed oligomers from the different cultivars showed a slight gradual change towards narrower and later eluting peaks as the ratio of SDG to CoAG increased. The results suggest that the oligomeric polarity and molecular size distribution in the different flaxseeds decreases with an increased ratio of SDG to CoAG. GPC of the unhydrolysed oligomer supported the slight gradual change towards higher molecular size with an increasing ratio of SDG and CoAG.

By fractionating the lignan oligomer of flaxseed according to polarity using solid phase extraction with 50, 60 and 70 % aqueous methanol, it was shown that the majority of the oligomeric extract ended up in the 60% methanolic fraction (Table 4), in accordance with previous results (Strandås *et al.*, 2008a; Paper II). Separation of the oligomeric extracts according to polarity and size showed that the 50% fraction contained the smallest molecules and had the highest proportion of hydroxycinnamic acids of the three fractions (Strandås *et al.*, 2008a). Thus, the decreasing yield of the 50% fraction with increasing SDG/CoAG (Table 4) provides further evidence that cultivars with high SDG to hydroxycinnamic acid ratio contain oligomers with lower polarity and higher molecular weight.

MALDI-TOF MS analyses of the seven cultivars did not show a gradual increase in molecular size with increased SDG/CoAG ratio, but they suggested that Vimy, the cultivar having the largest SDG to hydroxycinnamic acid ratio, had a higher average mass range than the other six cultivars, which were similar to each other (Figure 11).

Cultivar	Molar				Molar ratio	
	composition, %					
	CoAG	FeAG	HDG	SDG	SDG/CoAG SDG/HCA	
Early Bird	43	20	4	33	0.8 0.5	
Taurus	35	18	4	43	1.2 0.8	
Biltstar	23	23	4	50	2.2 1.1	
Agraf 17	21	15	5	59	2.8 1.6	
Talon	21	12	4	63	3.0 1.9	
Niagara	13	24	6	58	4.5 1.6	
Vimy	3	8	6	83	27.7 7.5	

Table 3. Molar composition of the lignan oligomer from different flaxseed cultivars

CoAG = p-coumaric acid glucoside, FeAG = ferulic acid glucoside, HDG = herbacetin diglucoside, SDG = secoisolariciresinol diglucoside, HCA = hydroxycinnamic acids (*i.e.* CoAG and FeAG)

Table 4. Percentage yield of the unhydrolysed flaxseed lignan oligomeric extract after fractionation by C18 solid phase extraction (SPE) with 50, 60 and 70 % aqueous methanol (MeOH). See also Table 3 for SDG to hydroxycinnamic acid ratios

Cultivar	% yield per methanolic fraction			
	50%	60%	70%	
	MeOH	MeOH	MeOH	
Early Bird	25	65	10	
Taurus	15	75	10	
Biltstar	16	73	11	
Agraf 17	12	79	9	
Talon	11	70	19	
Niagara	11	70	19	
Vimy	4	76	20	



Mass distribution (Da): □ <1000 □ 1001-2000 ■ 2001-3000

*Figure 11.* Molecular mass distribution (Da) as a percentage of total peak area from MALDI-TOF MS analyses of the unhydrolysed oligomeric extracts of seven different flaxseed cultivars.

Assuming that all CoAG and FeAG are linked with SDG in oligomeric structures, cv. Vimy should be at least 5458 Da (7.5 SDG + CoAG) (Table 3) which is near the average molecular weight of 4000 Da estimated for another flaxseed sample in Paper III (see above). The range of molecular masses of the oligomers in the other cultivars would then be between 995-1360 Da (min. SDG + CoAG = 994.9 Da to max. SDG + 2 FeAG = 1363.1 Da). This supports in part the MALDI-TOF results obtained for these cultivars in this study, as most peaks in their spectra were below 1500 Da. However, looking at Table 4, where all cultivars have at least 75% of their phenolic compounds in the 60% plus 70% methanolic fractions, and considering the molar composition in Table 2 and the results of Strandås et al. (2008a) (see above), it is clear that all hydroxycinnamic acids cannot be bound to C-6 of the glucose units in oligomers containing SDG. It is therefore suggested that there may exist different types of SDG oligomers, e.g. those end-capped by hydroxycinnamic acids at both ends, those endcapped at one end and those not carrying hydroxycinnamic acids at all. In fact, there is NMR evidence that SDG is not always end-capped (Paper III). Some oligomers, of low abundance, may possibly carry glucosylated hydroxycinnamic acids at -OH groups of the glucose units other than C-6.

It is also possible that CoAG and FeAG are involved in other structures than SDG oligomers.

The results suggest that depending on the proportion of monomeric constituents in the seeds, different flaxseeds contain different populations of oligomers, those with high proportions of hydroxycinnamic acids and those with high proportions of SDG. Hydroxycinnamic acids are formed and disappear into bound forms at early stages of seed development, while SDG is formed and bound at later stages (Ford *et al.*, 2001). If the hydroxycinnamic acids terminate the elongation of the oligomer, small oligomers will be formed in early stages of seed development when the content of free hydroxycinnamic acids is high. Larger oligomers with relatively more SDG will be formed in later stages of seed maturation (Struijs *et al.*, 2009)

The mass numbers for the two major peaks in cv. Vimy were 709 and 2000 Da. The mass of the major peak in the other six cultivars was 907 Da. These peaks and a few others have not been successfully assigned to any oligomeric structures, suggesting that they originate from compounds that are not part of the oligomeric structure. The MALDI-TOF spectrum obtained from an unhydrolysed extract of flaxseed hulls that was presented by Struijs *et al.* (2009) differed from the spectra obtained from unhydrolysed extracts of DFF in Paper IV in that it seemed to display a higher resolution and higher signal to noise levels. The MALDI-TOF spectra in this study seemed to have been obscured by the presence of interfering compounds to a higher extent, which made it difficult to obtain good signals for the oligomeric constituents.

## 4.2 Work related to flaxseed oil (Paper V)

#### 4.2.1 Fish white muscle lipid composition

When comparing the TAG fraction of the white muscle of fish fed the FSO+S diet with fish fed the FSO diet, there was a significant decrease in ALA and slight (non-significant) increases in EPA and DHA and the desaturation index (*i.e.* the measure of the conversion ALA to longer and/or more desaturated products) n-3HUFA/ALA. The PFSO and PFSO+S diets gave opposite effects to the FSO and FSO+S diets, respectively. We checked the possibility that treatments were switched during feeding, but this possibility was dismissed since sesamin was only found in muscles of fish that were intended to be fed sesamin. The MO+S diet resulted in slight (non-significant) increases in EPA and DHA compared with the MO diet

(Table 3 in Paper V). In the PL fraction, there were no clear effects of the FSO/FSO+S and PFSO/PFSO+S diets on ALA and DHA, but again, PFSO and PFSO+S consistently behaved in the opposite way to FSO and FSO+S, respectively. The MO+S diet resulted in a significant increase in DHA and DHA/ALA compared with the MO diet (Table 3 in Paper V).

The effects of the FSO+S diet on the fatty acid composition of the white muscle TAG fraction that were observed in Paper V are supported by similar observations in the study of Trattner *et al.* (2008). The effects for TAGs in the MO/MO+S treatments were similar in the two studies but the overall effects were more pronounced in Trattner *et al.* (2008). Possible explanations for the difference are: 1) only four fish per treatment were analysed in Paper V; 2) there was a different fatty acid composition of the flaxseed oils used in the two studies, as the ALA/LA ratio was only 1.8 and 0.6 in the FSO/FSO+S and MO/MO+S diets, respectively, compared with 3.6 and 1.0 in the study by Trattner *et al.* (2008); 3) only sesamin was used in Paper V, whereas an equimixture of sesamin and episesamin was used by Trattner *et al.* (2008). Episesamin has been reported to be a stronger lipid modulator than sesamin in rats (Kushiro *et al.*, 2002).

The flaxseed oil was purified to obtain flaxseed triacylglycerols in order to test the theory that a high ALA/LA ratio and/or minor components in flaxseed oil have an inhibitory effect on desaturation and elongation of ALA. If minor components in flaxseed oil had interfered with elongation and desaturation of ALA, one would have expected the PFSO diet to be more efficient in increasing n-3 desaturation indices than the FSO diet. One could possibly also have expected the PFSO to be more efficient than MO due to higher substrate availability. Moreover, the PFSO+S diet works in the opposite direction to FSO+S. Thus, instead of inhibitory substances in the flaxseed oil, the results from this study point toward synergistic effects between sesamin and minor compounds in the sunflower oil and possibly also in the whole flaxseed oil. The results support the theory that the high ALA/LA ratio in flaxseed oil has a negative effect on n-3 HUFA formation (Tocher et al., 2002). The behaviour of the PFSO+S diet could then be explained by a lack of minor compounds that work synergistically with sesamin, combined with a high level of ALA. However, the stronger effect on the increase in n-3 HUFA observed by Trattner et al. (2008) when using flaxseed oil with a higher ALA/LA ratio compared with this study does not support the hypothesis of Tocher et al. (2002) that high ALA/LA ratios inhibit the conversion of ALA into n-3 HUFA.

#### 4.2.2 Sesamin and tocopherols

When comparing individual data for rainbow trout white muscle TAGs, a negative correlation (P=0.05) was found between sesamin content and n-3 HUFA/ALA, indicating that increased desaturation and elongation of fatty acids is correlated to decreased muscle sesamin. According to Trattner *et al.* (2008), the MO+S diet resulted in lower tissue sesamin levels than the FSO+S diet. Together, these results suggest that increased n-3 HUFA/ALA is coupled to sesamin metabolism.

Diets containing sesamin were associated with lower levels of  $\gamma$ -tocopherol in white muscle of rainbow trout in Paper V, contradicting studies on rats and humans where sesamin was associated with increased blood and tissue concentrations of  $\gamma$ -tocopherol (Yamashita *et al.*, 1992; Frank *et al.*, 2008). There was also a negative correlation between n-3 HUFA/ALA and  $\gamma$ -tocopherol (P=0.03) in individual muscle PL data, and a tendency for the same in TAGs (P=0.06) in this study. This is in line with a study by Bell *et al.* (2000), where hepatocytes from salmon deficient in  $\alpha$ -tocopherol and/or astaxanthin showed an increased ability to elongate and desaturate ALA and EPA.

# 5 Main findings and conclusions

Work related to the lignan oligomer of flaxseed

- An HPLC method for determination of SDG in flaxseed was developed and used to compare the SDG content of 29 flaxseed cultivars.
- Full spectroscopic data were obtained for 4-O- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-*p*-coumaric acid and 4-O- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranosyl-ferulic acid isolated from flaxseed.
- The linear structure of flaxseed SDG-HMGA oligomers with an average molecular weight of 4 kDa was described for the first time.
- The first solid evidence that flaxseeds of different cultivars contain oligomers of different sizes was presented.
- Results from chromatographic analyses, which were selective for phenolic compounds (recorded at 280 nm), provided support that the molecular size of flaxseed lignan oligomers increases with increasing SDG to CoAG ratios. MALDI-TOF MS results showed that Vimy, a flaxseed cultivar with very low proportions of hydroxycinnamic acids, had a larger average oligomer size than cultivars with higher proportions of hydroxycinnamic acids.
- The size of flaxseed lignan oligomers was shown to be partly influenced by end-capping by hydroxycinnamic acids, possibly at early stages of seed development. It was postulated that biosynthesis of the oligomeric constituents at different stages of seed maturation leads to formation of different populations of oligomers.

# Work related to flaxseed oil

- ➤ The results obtained in this study confirmed findings by Trattner *et al.* (2008) that sesamin added to diets containing flaxseed oil, or a mixture of flaxseed and sunflower oil, is able to increase the conversion of alpha-linolenic acid to highly unsaturated omega-3 fatty acids (n-3 HUFA) in white muscle of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*).
- Diets containing purified triacylglycerols from flaxseed oil used for the first time, with and without added sesamin, behaved in the opposite way to whole flaxseed oil with and without sesamin, respectively, in terms of fatty acid composition of white muscle in rainbow trout. The reason for this was unclear, but it may be due to minor bioactive components in vegetable oils working synergistically with sesamin.
- The difference in the ability of sesamin to increase omega-3 highly unsaturated fatty acids (HUFA) in white muscle of rainbow trout when comparing flaxseed oil and a mixture of flaxseed oil and sunflower oil could not be attributed solely to the proposed inhibitory effects of the high ALA/LA ratio of flaxseed oil.
- Both sesamin and γ-tocopherol levels were shown to be inversely related to increased omega-3 HUFA levels in white muscle of rainbow trout.

# 6 Future perspectives

## Work related to the lignan oligomer of flaxseed

- The studies on differences in oligomer size in different flaxseed cultivars need to be followed up by extensive studies comparing the flaxseed cultivar Vimy to other cultivars using hulls instead of whole meal and monitoring biosynthesis during seed development.
- Knowledge about the structure of flaxseed oligomers and their components is of great importance from a nutritional and biochemical point of view and is crucial for complete understanding and possible exploitation.

## Work related to flaxseed oil in fish feed

- To evaluate and understand the effects obtained in this work, larger studies with a broader approach, *e.g.* using OMIC technologies, have to be performed.
- In order to understand and compare different studies on the effects of vegetable oil diets on the fatty acid composition of fish, it is necessary to describe the nature of the oils used, *e.g.* level of refinement and minor constituents.

# 7 References

- Adlercreutz, H. 1984. Does fibre-rich food containing animal lignan precursors protect against both colon and breast cancer? An extension of the "fiber hypothesis". *Gastroenterology*, 86:761–766.
- Adlercreutz, H. 1990. Western diet and Western diseases: Some hormonal and biochemical mechanisms and associations. *The Scandinavian Journal of Clinical and Laboratory Investigation*, 50, suppl. 201: 3–23.
- Adlercreutz, H. 2002. Phyto-oestrogens and cancer. The Lancet oncology 3:364-373.
- Adlercreutz, H. 2007. Lignans and human health. Critical Reviews in Clinical Laboratory Sciences, 44(5-6):483-525.
- Adlercreutz, H., Fotsis, T., Heikkinen, R., Dwyer, J.T., Woods, M., Goldin, B.R., Gorbach, S.L. 1982. Excretion of the lignans enterolactone and enterodiol and of equol in omnivorous and vegetarian postmenopausal women and in women with breast cancer. *The Lancet*, 320:1295-1298.
- Adlercreutz, H., Höckerstedt, K., Bannwart, C., Bloigu, S., Hämäläinen, E., Fotsis, T. & Ollus, A. 1987. Effect of components, including lignans and phytoestrogens, on the enterohepatic circulation and liver metabolism of estrogen and on sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG). *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry*, 27:1135–1144.
- Amarowicz, R, Wanasundara, P.K.J.P.D, Shahidi, F. 1994. Chromatographic separation of flaxseed phenolics. *Die Nahrung*, 38:520–526.
- Appelqvist, L. 1968. Rapid methods of lipid extractions and fatty acid methyl ester preparation for seed and leaf tissue with special remarks on preventing the accumulation of lipids contaminants. *Royal Swedish Academy of Science*, 28:551-570.
- Aura, A-M., Karppinen, S., Virtanen, H., Forssell, P., Heinonen, S-M., Nurmi, T., Adlercreutz, H. & Poutanen, K. 2005. Processing of rye bran influences both the fermentation of dietary fibre and the bioconversion of lignans by human faecal flora in vitro. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 85:2085-2093.
- Axelson, M. and Setchell, K.D.R. 1980. Conjugation of lignans in human urine. FEBS Letters, 122:49-53.
- Axelson, M. and Setchell, K.D.R. 1981. The excretion of lignans in rats evidence for an intestinal bacterial source for this new group of compounds. FEBS Letters, 123:337–342.

- Axelson, M., Sjövall, J., Gustafsson, B.E., Setchell, K.D.R. 1982. Origin of lignans in mammals and identification of a precursor from plants. *Nature*, 298:659-660.
- Ayres, D.C. and Loike, J.D. 1990. *Lignans: Chemical, biological, and clinical properties*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 1-11; 85-112.
- Bakke, J.E. and Klosterman, H.J. 1956. A new diglucoside from flaxseed. Proceedings of the North Dakota Academy of Science. July, Grand Forks, North Dakota, Volume X, pp 18-21.
- Bambagiotti-Alberti, M., Coran, S.A., Ghiara, C., Moneti, G., Raffaelli, A. 1994. Investigation of mammalian lignan precursors in flax seed: First evidence of secoisolariciresinol diglucoside in two isomeric forms by liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry*, 8:929-932.
- Bannwart, C., Adlercreutz, H., Wähälä, K., Brunow, G., Hase, T. 1989. Detection and identification of the plant lignans lariciresinol, isolariciresinol and secoisolariciresinol in human urine. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 180:293–302.
- Barclay, A.S. and Perdue, R.E. Jr. 1976. Distribution of anticancer activity in higher plants. *Cancer Treatment Reports*, 60:1081-1113.
- Beejmohun, V., Fliniaux, O. Grand, E., Lamblin, F., Bensaddek, L., Christen, P., Kovensky, J., Fliniaux, M-A. & Mesnard, F. 2007. Microwave-assisted extraction of the main phenolic compounds in flaxseed. *Phytochemical Analysis*, 18:275–282.
- Begum, A.N., Nicolle, C., Mila, I., Lapierre, C., Nagano, K., Fukushima, K., Heinonen, S-M., Adlercreutz, H., Rémésy, C., Scalbert, A. 2003. Dietary lignins are precursors of mammalian lignans in rats. *Journal of Nutrition*, 134:120–127.
- Bell, J.G., Henderson, R., Tocher, D.R., Sargent, J.R. 2004. Replacement of dietary fish oil with increasing levels of linseed oil: Modification of flesh fatty acid compositions in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) using a fish oil finishing diet. *Lipids*, 39:223-232.
- Bell, J.G., McEvoy, J., Tocher, D.R., Sargent, J.R. 2000. Depletion of α-tocopherol and astaxanthin in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) affects autoxidative defence and fatty acid metabolism. *Journal of Nutrition* 130:1800-1808.
- Bell, J.G., Tocher, D.R., Farndale, B.M., Cox, D.I., McKinney, R.W., Sargent, J.R. 1997. The effect of dietary lipid on polyunsaturated fatty acid metabolism in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) undergoing parr-smolt transformation. *Lipids*, 32:515-525.
- Bell, J.G., Tocher, D.R., Henderson, R., Dick, J.R., Crampton, V.O. 2003. Altered fatty acid compositions in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) fed diets containing linseed and rapeseed oils can be partially restored by a subsequent fish oil finishing diet. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 133:2793–2801.
- Boccardo, F., Lunardi, G., Guglielmini, P., Parodi, M., Murialdo, R., Schettini, G., Rubagotti, A. 2004. Serum enterolactone levels and the risk of breast cancer in women with palpable cysts. *European Journal of Cancer*, 40:84–89.
- Bommareddy, A., Zhang, X., Schrader, D., Kaushik, R.S., Zeman, D., Matthees, D.P., Dwivedi, C. 2009. Effects of dietary flaxseed on intestinal tumorigenesis in ApcMin Mouse. *Nutrition and Cancer*, 61:276–283.
- Borrielo, S.P., Setchell, K.D.R., Axelson, M., Lawson, A.M. 1985. Production and metabolism of lignans by the human faecal flora, *Journal of applied bacteriology*, 58:37–43.



- Brooks, J.D., Thompson, L.U., 2005. Mammalian lignans and genistein decrease the activities of aromatase and 17-beta-hydroxy steroid dehydrogenase in MCF-7 cells. *Journal* of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. 94:461-467.
- Burr, G.O. and Burr, M.M. 1930. On the nature and role of the fatty acids essential in nutrition. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 86(2):587-621.
- Cacace, J.E & Mazza, G. 2006. Pressurized low polarity water extraction of lignans from whole flaxseed. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 77:1087–1095.
- Carreau, C., Flouriot, G., Bennetau-Pelissero, C., Potier, M., 2008. Enterodiol and enterolactone, two major diet-derived polyphenol metabolites have different impact on ERalpha transcriptional activation in human breast cancer cells. *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 110:176-185.
- Charlet, S., Bensaddek, L., Raynaud, S., Gillet, F., Mesnard, F., Fliniaux, M-A. 2002. An HPLC method for the quantification of anhydrosecoisolariciresinol. Application to the evaluation of flax lignan content. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 40:225-229.
- Chen, J., Wang, L. & Thompson, L.U. 2006. Flaxseed and its components reduce metastasis after surgical excision of solid human breast tumor in nude mice. *Cancer Letters* 234(2):168–175.
- Chen, Y.C., Nguyen, J., Semmens, K., Beamer, S., Jaczynski, J. 2006. Enhancement of omega-3 fatty acid content in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) fillets. *Food Chemistry* and Toxicology, 71:C383-C389.
- Chimichi, S., Bambagiotti-Alberti, M., Coran, S.A., Giannellini, V. and Biddau, B. 1999. Complete assignment of the 1H and 13C NMR spectra of secoisolariciresinol diglucoside, a mammalian lignan precursor isolated from Linum usitatissimum. *Magnetic Resonance in Chemistry*, 37:860–863.
- Chisolm, G.M. and Steinberg, D. 2000. The oxidative modification hypothesis of atherogenesis: An overview. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 28:1815-1826.
- Choo, W-S., Birch, J., Dufour, J-P. 2007. Physiochemical and quality characteristics of coldpressed flaxseed oils. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 20:202–211.
- Clavel T., Henderson G., Alpert C–A., Philippe C., Rigottier-Gois L., Dore' J. & Blaut M. 2005. Intestinal bacterial communities that produce active estrogen-like compounds enterodiol and enterolactone in humans. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(10):6077–6085.
- Clavel T., Henderson G., Engst W., Doré J. & Blaut M. 2006. Phylogeny of human intestinal bacteria that activate the dietary lignan secoisolariciresinol diglucoside. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 55:471-478.
- Cosentino, M., Marino, F., Ferrari, M., Rasini, E., Bombelli, R., Luini, A., Legnaro, M., Delle Canne, M.G., Luzzani, M., Crema, F., Paracchini, S., Lecchini, S., 2007.
  Estrogenic activity of 7-hydroxymatairesinol potassium acetate (HMR/lignan (TM)) from Norway spruce (Picea abies) knots and of its active metabolite enterolactone in MCF-7 cells. *Pharmacological Research*, 56:140-147.
- Dabrowski, K.J. and Sosulski, F.W. 1984. Composition of free and hydolyzable acids in defatted flours of ten oilseeds, *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 32:128–130.



- Dai, Q., Franke, A.A., Jin, F., Shu, X-O., Hebert, J.R., Custer, L.J., Cheng, J., Gao, Y-T., Zheng, W. 2002. Urinary excretion of phytoestrogens and risk of breast cancer among Chinese women in Shanghai. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention*, 11:815–821.
- Davin, L.B. & Lewis, N.G. 2003. An historical perspective on lignan biosynthesis: Monolignol, allyphenol and hydroxycinnamic acid coupling and downstream metabolism. *Phytochemistry Review*, 2:257-288.
- Davin, L.B., Wang, H.B., Crowell, A.L., Bedgar, D.L., Martin, D.M., Sarkanen, S., Lewis, N.G. 1997. Stereoselective bimolecular phenoxy radical coupling by an auxiliary (dirigent) protein without an active center. *Science*, 275:362–366.
- Davis, B.C. and Kris-Etherton, P.M. 2003. Achieving optimal essential fatty acid status in vegetarians: current knowledge and practical implications. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 78(Suppl.):640S-660S.
- De Lorgeril, M., Renaud, S., Mamelle, N., Salen, P., Martin, J.L., Monjaud, I., Guidollet, J., Touboul, P., Delaye, J. 1994. Mediterranean alpha-linolenic acid rich diet in secondary prevention of coronary heart disease. *Lancet*, 34:1454-1459.
- Dean, J.R. 2003. Current market trends and economic importance of oilseed flax. In: Muir, A.D. and Westcott, N.D. (eds) *Flax-The genus* Linum. Taylor & Francis, New York, NY, USA. pp 275-291.
- Degenhardt, A., Habben, S., Winterhalter, P. 2002. Isolation of the lignan secoisolariciresinol diglucoside from flaxseed (Linum usitatissimum L.) by high-speed counter-current chromatography. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 943:299–302.
- Demark-Wahnefried, W., Polascik, T.J., George, S.L., Switzer, B.R., Madden, J.F., Ruffin IV, M.T., Snyder, D.C., Owzar, K., Hars, V., et al. 2008. Flaxseed supplementation (not dietary fat restriction) reduces prostet cancer proliferation rates in men presurgery. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention*, 17:3577-3587.
- Demark-Wahnefried, W., Price, D.T., Polascik, T.J., Robertson, C.N., Anderson, E.E., Paulson, D.F., Walther, P.J., Gannon, M. & Vollmer, R.T. 2001. Pilot study of dietary fat restriction and flaxseed supplementation in men with prostate cancer before surgery: exploring the effects on hormonal levels, prostate specific antigen, and histopathologic features. Urology, 58:47-52.
- Demark-Wahnefried, W., Robertson, C.N., Walther, P.J., Polascik, T.J., Paulson D.F. & Vollmer, R.T. 2004. Pilot study to explore effects of low-fat, flaxseed-supplemented diet on proliferation of benign prostatic epithelium and prostate-specific antigen. *Urology*, 63(5):900-904.
- den Tonkelaar, I., Keinan-Boker, L., Vant't Veer, P., Arts, C.J.M., Adlercreutz, H., Thijssen, J.H.H., Peeters, P.H.M. 2001. Urinary phytoestrogens and postmenopausal breast cancer risk. *Cancer Epidemiology, Biomarkers and Prevention*, 10:223-228.
- Dinkova-Kostova, A.T., Gang, D.R., Davin, L.B., Bedgar, D.L., Chu, A., Lewis, N.G. 1996. (+)-Pinoresinol/(+)-lariciresinol reductase from Forsythia intermedia- Protein purification, cDNA cloning, heterologous expression and comparison to isoflavone reductase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271:29473-29482.
- Dodin, S., Cunnane, S.C., Masse, B., Lemay, A., Jacques, H., Asselin, G., Tremblay-Mercier, J., Marc, I., Lamarche, B., Legare, F. & Forest, J.C. 2008. Flaxseed on
- 62

cardiovascular disease markers in healthy menopausal women: a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. *Nutrition*, 24(1), 23-30.

- Dyerberg, J., Bang, H.O., Stoffersen, E., Moncada, S., Vane, J.R. 1978 Eicosapenatenoic acid and prevention of thrombosis and atherosclerosis? *Lancet*, 2:117-119.
- El Shattory, Y. 1976. Chromatographic column fractionation and fatty acid composition of different lipid classes of linseed oil. *Die Nahrung*, 20:307-311.
- Eliasson, C., Kamal-Eldin, A., Andersson, R., Åman, P. 2003. High-performance liquid chromatographic analysis of secoisolariciresinol diglucoside and hydroxycinnamic acid glucosides in flaxseed by alkaline extraction, Journal of chromatography A, 1012:151-159.
- Eriksson, S.F. and PIckova, J. 2007. Fatty acids and tocopherol levels in *M. Longissimus dorsi* of beef cattle in Sweden A comparison between seasonal diets. *Meat Science*, 76:746-754.
- FAO. 2002. Use of fishmeal and fish oils in aquafeed Further thoughts on the fishmeal trap. FAO Fisheries Circular No 975. FAO, Rome. pp. 1–71.
- FAOSTAT. 2007. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, FAO Statistical Databases, URL: http://faostat.fao.org.
- Farah, H., Andersson, R., Samuelsson, G. 1992. Microdotin A and B: Two new aloin derivatives from Aloe microdonta. *Planta Medica*, 58:88–93.
- Farhat, M.Y., Lavigne, M.C. & Ramwell, P.W. 1996. The vascular protective effects of estrogen. *FASEB Journal*, 10:615–624.
- Fedeli, E., Capella, P., Cirimele, M., Jacini, G. 1966. Isolation of geranyl geraniol from the unsaponifiable fraction of linseed oil. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 7:437-441.
- Ford, J.D., Huang, K-S., Wang, H-B., Davin, L.B., Lewis, N.G. 2001. Biosynthetic pathway to the cancer chemopreventive secoisolariciresinol diglucoside-hydroxymethyl glutaryl ester-linked lignan oligomers in flax (*Linum usitatissimum*) seeds. *Journal of Natural Products*, 64:1388-1397.
- Frank, J., Eliasson, C., Leroy-Nivad, D., Budek, A., Lundh, T., Vessby, B., Åman, P., Kamal-Eldin, A. 2004. Dietary secoisolariciresinol diglucoside and its oligomers with 3hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaric acid decrease vitamin E levels in rats. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 92:169-176.
- Frank, J., Lee, S., Leonard, S.W., Atkinson, J.K., Kamal-Eldin, A., Traber, M.G. 2008. Sex differences in the inhibition of γ-tocopherol metabolism by a single dose of dietary sesame oil in healthy subjects. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 87:1723-1729.
- Fukimutsu, S., Aida, K., Ueno, N., Ozawa, S., Takahashi, Y., Kobori, M. 2008. Flaxseed lignan attenuates high-fat diet-induced fat accumulation and induces adiponectin expression in mice. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 100:669–676.
- Fuster, M.D., Lampi, A-M., Hopia, A., Kamal-Eldin, A. 1998. Effects of α- and γtocopherols on the autooxidation of purified sunflower triacylglycerols. *Lipids* 33:715-722.
- Green, A.G. and Marshall, D.R. 1981. Variation in oil quantity and quality in linseed (*Linum usitatissimum*). Australian Journal of Agricultural Research, 32:599-607.
- Hall, C., Fitzpatrick, K.C., Kamal-Eldin, A. 2009. Flax, perilla and camelina seed oils: αlinolenic acid-rich oils. In: Moreau, R.A. and Kamal-Eldin, A. (eds) Gourmet and healthpromoting specialty oils. AOCS press, Urbana, IL, USA, pp 151-183.

- Hallund J., Ravn-Haren G., Bugel S., Tholstrup T. & Tetens I. 2006a. A lignan complex isolated from flaxseed does not affect plasma lipid concentrations or antioxidant capacity in healthy postmenopausal women. *Journal of Nutrition*, 136 (1):112-116.
- Hallund, J., Tetens, I., Bugel, S., Tholstrup, T., Ferrari, M., Teerlink, T., Kjaer, A. & Wiinberg, N. 2006b. Daily consumption for six weeks of a lignan complex isolated from flaxseed does not affect endothelial function in health postmenopausal women. *Journal of Nutrition*, 136:2314–2318.
- Hano, C., Martin, I., Fliniaux, O., Legrand, B., Gutierrez, L., Arroo, R.R.J., Mesnard, F., Lamblin, F., Laine, E., 2006. Pinoresinol-lariciresinol reductase gene expression and secoisolariciresinol diglucoside accumulation in developing flax (*Linum usitatissimum*) seeds. *Planta*, 224:1291-1301.
- Hara, A. and Radin, N.S. 1978. Lipid extraction of tissue with low toxicity solvent. Analytic Biochemistry, 90:420-426.
- Harper, C.R. and Jacobson, T.A. 2001. The fats of life. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 161:2185-2192.
- Harris, R.K. and Haggerty, W.J. 1993. Assays for potentially anticarcinogenic phytochemicals in Flaxseed, *Cereal Foods World*, 38:147-151.
- Hartwell, J.L. 1976. Types of anticancer agents isolated from plants. *Cancer Treatment Reports*, 60:1031-1067.
- Heinonen, S., Nurmi, T., Liukkonen, K., Poutanen, K., Wähälä, K., Deyama, T., Nishibi, S., Adlercreutz, H. 2001. In vitro metabolism of plant lignans: New precursors of mammalian lignans enterolactone and enterodiol. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 49:3178–3186.
- Hensley, K., Benaksas, E.J., Bolli, R., Comp, P., Grammas, P., Hamdheydari, L., Mou, S., Pye, Q.N., Stoddard, M.F., Wallis, G., Williamson, K.S., West, M., Wechter, W.J., Floyd, R.A. 2004. New perspectives on vitamin E: γ-tocopherol and carboxyethylhydroxychroman metabolites in biology and medicine. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 36:1-15.
- Herchi, W., Harrabi, S., Rochut, S., Boukchina, S., Kallel, H., Pepe, C. 2009. Characterization and Quantification of the Aliphatic Hydrocarbon Fraction during Linseed Development (*Linum usitatissimum* L.). *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57:5832–5836.
- Hillerns, P.I., Zu, Y.G., Fu, Y.J., Wink, M., 2005. Binding of phytoestrogens to rat uterine estrogen receptors and human sex hormone-binding globulins. *Zeitschrift für Naturforschung* (C), 60:649-656.
- Horwitz, C. and Walker, A.R.P. 1984. Lignans Additional benefits from fiber? Nutrition and Cancer, 6:73-76.
- Hosseinian, F.S., Muir, A.D., Westcott, N.D., Krol, E.S., 2006. Antioxidant capacity of flaxseed lignans in two model systems. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 83:835-840.
- Hosseinian, F.S., Muir, A.D., Westcott, N.D., Krol, E.S., 2007. AAPH-mediated antioxidant reactions of secoisolariciresinol and SDG. Organic and Biomolecular Chemistry, 5:644-654.



- Hyvärinen, H., Pihlava, J-M., Hiidenhovi, J.A., Hietaniemi, V., Korhonen, H.J.T., Ryhänen, E-L. 2006a. Effect of processing and storage on the stability of flaxseed lignan added to bakery products. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54:48-53.
- Hyvärinen, H., Pihlava, J-M., Hiidenhovi, J.A., Hietaniemi, V., Korhonen, H.J.T., Ryhänen, E-L. 2006b. Effect of processing and storage on the stability of flaxseed lignan added to dairy products. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 54:8788–8792.
- Ingram, D., Sanders, K., Kolybaba, M., Lopez, D. 1997. Case-control study of phytooestrogens and breast cancer. *The Lancet*, 350:990-994.
- Jacobs, M.N., Nolan, G.T., Hood, S.R., 2005. Lignans, bacteriocides and organochlorine compounds activate the human pregnane X receptor (PXR). *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 209:23-133.
- Jenab, M. and Thompson, L.U. 1996. The influence of flaxseed and lignans on colon carcinogenesis and β-glucuronidase activity. *Carcinogenesis*, 17:1343-1348.
- Jin, J.S., Kakiuchi, J., Hattori, M., 2007a. Enantioselective oxidation of enterodiol to enterolactone by human intestinal bacteria. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 30:2204– 2206.
- Jin, J.S., Zhao, Y.F., Nakamura, N., Akao, T., Kakiuchi, N., Min, B.S., Hattori, M., 2007b. Enantioselective dehydroxylation of enterodiol and enterolactone precursors by human intestinal bacteria. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 30:2113–2119.
- Kamal-Eldin, A. 2005. Minor components of vegetable oils. In: Shahidi, F. (ed) Bailey's Industrial Oil and Fat Products. Volume 3. Sussex, UK, John Wiley & Sons Inc., pp. 319-359.
- Karlshamns AB. 1989. Bearbetning av vegetabiliska oljor In: Magnusson, G. and Hermansson, G. (eds) Vegetabiliska oljor och fetter (in Swedish). Växjö, Sweden, pp 68-84.
- Kilkkinen, A., Virtamo, J., Vartiainen, E., Sankila, R., Virtanen, M.J., Adlercreutz, H., Pietinen, P. Serum enterolactone concentration is not associated with breast cancer risk in a nested case-control study. *International Journal of Cancer*, 108:277–280.
- Kitts, D.D., Yuan, Y.V., Wijewickreme, A.N., Thompson, L.U. 1999. Antioxidant activity of the lignan secoisolariciresinol diglycoside and its mammalian lignan metabolites enterodiol and enterolactone. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 202:91–100.
- Kitts, D.D., Yuan, Y.V., Wijewickreme, A.N., Thompson, L.U., 1999. Antioxidant activity of the flaxseed lignan secoisolariciresinol diglycoside and its mammalian lignan metabolites enterodiol and enterolactone. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 202:91–100.
- Klosterman, H.J. and Smith, F. 1954. The isolation of  $\beta$ -hydroxy- $\beta$ -methylglutaric acid from the seed of flax (*Linum usitatissimum*), *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 76:1229-1230.
- Klosterman, H.J., Smith, F., Clagett, C.O. 1955. The constitution of linocinnamarin. Journal of the American Chemical Society, 77:420-421.
- Kozlowska, H., Zadernowski, R., Sosulski, F.W. 1983. Phenolic acids in oilseed flours. Nahrung, 27:449-453.
- Kuijsten, A., Arts, I.C.W., van't Veer, P. & Hollman, P.C.H. 2005. The relative bioavailability of enterolignans in humans is enhanced by milling and crushing of flaxseed. *Journal of Nutrition*, 135:2812–2816.

- Kushiro, M., Masaoka, T., Hageshita, S., Takahashi, Y., Ide, T., Sugano, M. 2002. Comparative effect of sesamin and episesamin on the activity and gene expression of enzymes in fatty acid oxidation and synthesis in rat liver. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 13:289-295.
- Lands, W.E.M. 2001. Impact of daily food choices on health promotion and disease prevention. In: Hamazaki, T. and Okuyama, H. (eds) *Fatty acids and lipids – New findings* World Review of Nutrition and Dietetics, Basel, Karger, vol 88, pp 1-5.
- Lanzmann-Petithory, D. 2001. Alpha-linolenic acid and cardiovascular disease. The Journal of Nutrition Health and Aging, 5:179-183.
- Lemay, A., Dodin, S., Kadri, N., Jacques, H. & Forest, J-C. 2002. Flaxseed dietary supplement versus hormone replacement therapy in hypercholesterolemic menopausal women. *The American College of Obstetricans and Gynecologists*, 100(3):495-504.
- Lepiniec, L., Debaujon, I., Routaboul, J-M., Baudry, A., Pourcel, L., Nesi, N., Caboche, M. 2006. Genetics and biochemistry of seed flavonoids. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 57:405-430.
- Li, D., Yee, J.A., Thompson, L.U. & Yan L. 1999. Dietary supplementation with secoisolariciresinol diglycoside (SDG) reduces experimental metastasis of melanoma cells in mice. *Cancer Letters*, 142(1):91-96.
- Liggins, J., Grimwood, R., Bingham, S.A. 2000. Extraction and quantification of lignan phytoestrogens in food and human samples. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 287:102-109.
- Lin, X., Gingrich, J.R., Bao, W., Li, J., Haroon, Z.A., Demark-Wahnefried, W. 2002. Effect of flaxseed supplementation on prostatic carcinoma in transgenic mice, *Urology*, 60:919-924.
- Lin, X., Switzer, B.R. & Demark-Wahnefried, W. 2001. Effect of mammalian lignans on the growth of prostate cancer cell lines. Anticancer Research 21, 3995–3999.
- Livsmedelsverket. 2009. (Online) http://www.slv.se/sv/grupp1/Mat-och-naring/Vadinnehaller-maten/Fett/Fakta-om-fett/Omega-3--och-omega-6-fettsyror/ (2009-08-04).
- Lucas, E.A., Lightfoot, S.A., Hammond, L.J., Devareddy, L., Khalil, D.A., Daggy, B.P., Smith B.J., Westcott, N., Mocanu, V., Soung, D.Y. & Arjmandi, B.H. 2004. Flaxseed reduces plasma cholesterol and atherosclerotic lesion formation in ovariectomized Golden Syrian hamsters. *Atherosclerosis*, 173:223–229.
- Luyengi, L., Pezzuto, J.M., Waller, D.P., Beecher, C.W.W., Fong, H.S. 1993. Linusitamarin, a new phenylpropanoid glucoside from *Linum usitatissimum*. *Journal of Natural Products*, 56:2012–2015.
- MacRae, W.D. and Towers, G.H.N. 1984. Biological activities of lignans. *Phytochemistry*, 23:1207–1220.
- Martin, M.E., Haourigui, M., Pelissero, C., Benassayag, C., Nunez, E.A. 1996. Interactions between phytoestrogens and human sex steroid binding protein, Life sciences, 58:429-436.
- Mazur, W. 1998. Phytoestrogen content in foods. Baillière's Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism, 12:729-742.
- Mazur, W. and Adlercreutz, H. 1998. Natural and anthropogenic environmental oestrogens: the scientific basis for risk assessment, naturally occurring oestrogens in food. *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 70:1759–1776.

- Mazur, W., Duke, J.A., Wähälä, K., Rasku, S., Adlercreutz, H. 1998a. Isoflavonoids and lignans in legumes: nutritional and health aspects in humans. *Nutritional Biochemistry*, 9:193-200.
- Mazur, W., Fotsis, T., Wähälä, K., Ojala, S., Salakka, A., Adlercreutz, H. 1996. Isotope dilution gas chromatographic-mass spectrometric method for the determination of isoflavonoids, coumestrol, and lignans in food samples. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 233:169-180.
- Mazur, W., Uehara, M., Wähälä, K., Adlercreutz, H. 2000. Phyto-oestrogen content of berries, and plasma concentrations and urinary excretion of enterolactone after a single strawberry-meal in human subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 83:381–387.
- Mazur, W., Wähälä, K., Salakka, A., Hase, T., Adlercreutz, H. 1998b. Lignan and isoflavonoid concentrations in tea and coffee. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 79:37-45.
- Meagher, L.P., Beecher, G.R., Flanagan, V.P., Li, B.W. 1999. Isolation and characterization of the lignans, isolariciresinol and pinoresinol, in flaxseed meal. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 47:3173–3180.
- Menoyo, D., Lopez-Bote, C.J., Obach, A., Bautista, J.M. 2005. Effect of dietary fish oil substitution with linseed oil on the performance, tissue fatty acid profile, metabolism, and oxidative stability of Atlantic salmon. *Journal of Animal Science*, 83:2853–2862.
- Milder, I.E.J., Arts, I.C.W., van de Putte, B., Venema, D.P., Hollman, P.C.H., 2005. Lignan contents of Dutch plant foods: a database including lariciresinol, pinoresinol, secoisolariciresinol and matairesinol. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 93:393-402.
- Moazzami, A.A. and Kamal-Eldin, A. 2006. Sesame seed is a rich source of dietary lignans. Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 83:719-723.
- Moreau, R.A. and Kamal-Eldin, A. 2008. Introduction. In: Moreau, R. and Kamal-Eldin, A. (eds) *Gournet and Health-promoting Specialty Oils*. AOCS press, Urbana, IL, USA, pp 1-13.
- Morton, M.S., Chan, P.S.F., Cheng, C., Blacklock, N., Matos-Ferreira, A., Abranches-Monteiro, L., Correia, R., Lloyd, S., Griffiths, K. 1997. Lignans and isoflavonoids in plasma and prostatic fluid in men: samples from Portugal, Hong Kong, and the United Kingdom. *The Prostate*, 32:122-128.
- Mousavi, Y. and Adlercreutz, H. 1992. Enterolactone and estradiol inhibit each other's proliferative effect on MCF-7 breast cancer cells in culture. *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 41:615-619.
- Mueller, S.O., Simon, S., Chae, K., Metzler, M., Korach, K.S., 2004. Phytoestrogens and their human metabolites show distinct agonistic and antagonistic properties on estrogen receptor alpha (ER alpha) and ER beta in human cells *Toxicological Sciences*, 80:14–25. (p 14 corr in vol 81, pg 530–531, 2004).
- Muir, A.D. and Westcott, N.D. 2000. Quantitation of the lignan secoisolariciresinol diglucoside in baked goods containing flax seed or flax meal. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 48:4048-4052.
- Namiki, M. 1995. The chemistry and physiological functions of sesame. Food Reviews International, 11:281–329.
- Nesbitt, P.D., Lam, Y., Thompson, L.U. 1999. Human metabolism of mammalian lignan precursors in raw and processed flaxseed. *American Journal of Nutrition*, 69:549–555.

- Niemeyer, H.B. and Metzler, M. 2003. Differences in the antioxidant activity of plant and mammalian lignans. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 56:255-256.
- Nilzén, V. Babol, J., Dutta, P.C., Lundeheim, N., Enfält, A.C., Lundström, K. 2001. Free range rearing of pigs with access to pasture grazing- effect on fatty acid composition and lipid oxidation products. *Meat Science*, 58:267–275.
- Nurmi, T., Heinonen, S., Mazur, W., Deyama, T., Nishibe, S., Adlercreutz, H. 2003. Lignans in selected wines. *Food Chemistry*, 83:303–309.
- Obermeyer, W.R., Musser, S.M., Betz, J.M., Casey, R.E., Pohland, A.E., Page, S.W. 1995. Chemical studies of phytoestrogens and related compounds in dietary supplements: Flax and chaparral. *Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 208:6–12.
- Oikarinen, S., Heinonen, S-M., Nurmi, T., Adlercreutz, H. & Mutanen, M. 2005. No effect on adenoma formation in Min mice after moderate amount of flaxseed. *European Journal of Nutrition*, 44:273–280.
- Oomah, B.D., Kenaschuck, E., Mazza, G. 1997. Tocopherols in flaxseed. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 45:2076-2080.
- Oomah, B.D. and Kenaschuk, E.O. 1995. Cultivars and agronomic aspects. In: Cunnane, S.C., Thompson, L.U. (eds) *Flaxseed in Human Nutrition*. AOCS press: Champaign, IL, USA, pp. 43-55.
- Oomah, B.D., Kenaschuck, E.O., Mazza, G. 1995. Phenolic acids in flaxseed, Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 43:2016-2019.
- Oomah, B.D., Mazza, G., Kenaschuck, E.O. 1996. Flavonoid content of flaxseed. Influence of cultivar and environment. *Euphytica*, 90:163–167.
- Painter, E.P. and Nesbitt, L.L. 1943. Fat acid composition of linseed oil from different varieties of flaxseed. Oil and Soap, 20:208–211.
- Pajari, A-M., Smeds, A.I., Oikarinen, S.I., Eklund, P.C., Sjöholm, R.E. & Mutanen, M. 2006. The plant lignans matairesinol and secoisolariciresinol administered to Min mice do not protect against intestinal tumor formation. *Cancer Letters*, 233, 309-314.
- Pan, A., Sun, J., Chen, Y., Ye, X., Li, H., Wang, Y., Gu, W., Zhang, X., Chen, X., Demark-Wahnefried, W., Liu, Y. & Lin X. 2007. Effects of a flaxseed-derived lignan supplement in type 2 diabetic patients: A randomized, double blind, cross-over trial. *PLoS* ONE, 2(11): e1148.
- Pellizzon, M.A., Billheimer, J.T., Bloedon, L.T., Szapary, P.O. & Rader, D.J. 2007. Flaxseed reduces plasma cholesterol levels in hypercholesterolemic mouse models. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 26(1):66–75.
- Penttinen, P., Jaehrling, J., Damdimopoulos, A.E., Inzunza, J., Lemmen, J.G., van der Saag, P., Pettersson, K., Gauglitz, G., Makela, S., Pongratz, I., 2007. Diet-derived polyphenol metabolite enterolactone is a tissue-specific estrogen receptor activator. *Endocrinology*, 148, 4875-4886.
- Pickova, J., Dutta, P.C., Larsson, P.O., Kiessling, A. 1997. Early embryonic cleavage pattern, hatching success, and egg-lipid fatty acid composition: comparison between two cod (*Gadus morhua*) stocks. *Canadian Journal of Fishery and Aquatic Science*, 54, 2410-2416.
- Prasad, K. 1997a. Dietary flax seed in prevention of hypercholesterolemic atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*, 132, 69-76.



- Prasad, K. 1997b. Hydroxyl radical-scavenging property of secoisolariciresinol diglucoside (SDG) isolated from flax-seed. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 168:117-123.
- Prasad, K. 1999. Reduction of serum cholesterol and hypercholesterolemic atherosclerosis in rabbits by secoisolariciresinol diglucoside isolated from flaxseed. *Circulation*, 99:1355-1362.
- Prasad, K. 2000a. Antioxidant activity of secoisolariciresinol diglucoside-derived metabolites, secoisolariciresinol, enterodiol and enterolactone. *International Journal of Angiology*, 9:220– 225.
- Prasad, K. 2000b. Oxidative stress as a mechanism of diabetes in diabetic BB prone rats: Effect of secoisolariciresinol diglucoside (SDG). *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 209:89–96.
- Prasad, K. 2001. Secoisolariciresinol diglucoside from flaxseed delays the development of type 2 diabetes in Zucker rat. *Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine*, 138:32–39.
- Prasad, K. 2005. Hypocholesterolemic and antiatherosclerotic effect of flax lignan complex isolated from flaxseed. *Atherosclerosis*, 179(2), 269-275.
- Prasad, K., Mantha, S.V., Muir, A.D., Westcott, N.D. 1998. Reduction of hypercholesterolemic atherosclerosis by CDC-flaxseed with very low alpha-linolenic acid, *Atherosclerosis*, 136:367-375.
- Pretova, A. and Vojtekova, M. 1985. Chlorophylls and carotenoids in flax embryos during embryogenesis. *Phytosynthetica*, 19:194–197.
- Qui, S-X., Lu, Z-Z., Luyengi, L., Lee, S.K., Pezzuto, J.M., Farnsworth, N.R., Thompson, L.U., Fong, H.S. 1999. Isolation and characterization of flaxseed (*Linum usitatissimum*) constituents. *Pharmaceutical Biology*, 37:1-7.
- Ratnayake, W.M.N., Behrens, W.A., Fischer, P.W.F., L'Abbé, M.R., Mongeau, R., Beare-Rogers, J.L. 1992. Chemical and nutritional studies of flaxseed (variety Linott) in rats, *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 3:232-240.
- Rickard, S.E. & Thompson, L.U. 1998. Chronic exposure to secoisolariciresinol diglycoside alters lignan disposition in rats. *Journal of Nutrition*, 128:615-623.
- Rickard, S.E., Orcheson, L.J., Seidl, M.M., Luyengi, L., Fong, H.S., Thompson, L.U. 1996. Dose-dependent production of mammalian lignans in rats and in vitro from the purified precursor secoisolariciresinol diglycoside in flaxseed. *Journal of Nutrition*, 126:2012-2019.
- Rickard, S.E., Yuan, Y.V., Chen, J. & Thompson, L.U. 1999. Dose effects of flaxseed and its lignan on n-methyl-n-nitrosourea-induced mammary tumorigenesis in rats. *Nutrition and Cancer*, 35(1):50-57.
- Rosen, E.D., Walkey, C.J., Puigserver, P., Spiegelman, B.M. 2000. Transcriptional regulation of adipogenesis. *Genes and Development*, 14:1293–1307.
- Rowland, I., Wiseman, H., Sanders, T., Adlercreutz, H. & Bowey, E. 1999. Metabolism of oestrogens and phytoestrogens: Role of the gut microflora. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 27(2):304–308.
- Saarinen, N.M., Smeds, A., Mäkelä, S.I., Ämmälä, J., Hakala, K., Pihlava, J-M., Ryhänen, E-L., Sjöholm, R. & Santti, R. 2002. Structural determinants of plant lignans for the formation of enterolactone in vivo. *Journal of Chromatography B*, 777:311-319.
- Saarinen, N.M., Wärri, A., Airio, M., Smeds, A. & Mäkelä, S. 2007. Role of dietary lignans in the reduction of breast cancer risk. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research*, 51:857-866.

- Sanchez-Vasquez, F.J., Yamamoto, T., Akiyama, T., Madrid, J.A., Tabata, M. 1999. Macronutrient self-selection through demand-feeders in rainbow trout. *Physiology and Behavior*, 66:45–51.
- Sargent, J.R., Tocher, D.R., Bell, J.G. 2002. The lipids. In: Halver, J.E. and Hardy, R.W. (eds) *Fish nutrition*. Vol. 3. Academic Press, Orlando, FL. pp 181-257.
- Schlechtriem, C., Bron, J.E., Tocher, D.R. 2007. Inter-individual variation in total fatty acid compositions of flesh of Atlantic salmon smolts-fed diets containing fish oil or vegetable oil. *Aquaculture Research*, 38:1045-1055.
- Schöttner, M., Gansser, D., Spiteller, G., 1997. Lignans from the roots of Urtica dioica and their metabolites bind to human sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG). *Planta Medica*, 63:529-532.
- Schöttner, M., Spiteller, G. & Gansser, D. 1998. Lignans interfering with 5αdihydrotestosterone binding to human sex hormone-binding globulin. *Journal of Natural Products*, 61:119-121.
- Schwartz, H., Ollilainen, V., Piironen, V., Lampi, A-M. 2008. Tocopherol, tocotrienol and sterol contents of vegetable oils and industrial fats. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 21:152-161.
- Serraino, M. & Thompson, L.U. 1992. Flaxseed supplementation and early markers of colon carcinogenesis. Cancer Letters 63, 159–165.
- Setchell, K.D.R, Lawson, A.M., Axelson, M., Adlercreutz, H. 1979. The excretion of two new phenolic compounds during the human menstrual cycle and in pregnancy, endocrinological cancer, ovarian function and disease. In: H. Adlercreutz, H., Bulbroock, R.D., van der Molen, H.J., Vermeulen, A. and Sciarra, S. (eds) *Proceedings of the IX meeting of the international study group for steroid hormones*. Rome, December 5-7, 515:207-215.
- Setchell, K.D.R., Bull, R., Adlercreutz, H. 1980a. Steroid excretion during the reproductive cycle and in pregnancy of the vervet monkey (Cercopithecus aethiopus pygerythrus), *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry*, 12:375–384.
- Setchell, K.D.R., Lawson, A.M., Borrielo, S.P., Harkness, R., Gordon, H., Morgan, D.M.L., Kirk, D.N., Adlercreutz, H., Anderson, L.C. 1981. Lignan formation in manmicrobial involvement and possible roles in relation to cancer. *The Lancet*, 318:4-7.
- Setchell, K.D.R., Lawson, A.M., Mitchell, F.L., Adlercreutz, H., Kirk, D.N., Axelson, M. 1980b. Lignans in man and in animal species. *Nature*, 287:740-742.
- Sicilia, T., Niemeyer, H.B., Honig, D.M., Metzler, M. 2003. Identification and stereochemical characterization of lignans in flaxseed and pumpkin seeds. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 51:1181–1188.
- Simopoulos, A.P. 1991. Omega-3 fatty acids in health and disease and in growth and development, *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 54:438-463.
- Simopoulos, A.P. 2008. The importance of the omega-6/omega-3 fatty acid ratio in cardiovascular disease and other chronic diseases. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 6:674– 688.
- Smeds, A.I., Eklund, P.C., Sjoholm, R.E., Willfor, S.M., Nishibe, S., Deyama, T., Holmbom, B.R., 2007. Quantification of a broad spectrum of lignans in cereals, oilseeds, and nuts. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 55:1337-1346.
- 70

- Smeds, A.I., Saarinen, N.M., Hurmerinta, T.T., Penttinen, P.E., Sjöholm, R.E. & Mäkelä, S.I. 2004. Urinary excretion of lignans after administration of isolated plant lignans to rats: The effect of single dose and ten-day exposures. *Journal of Chromatography B*, 813: 303– 312.
- Sonnestedt, E., Borgqvist, S., Ericsson, U., Gullberg, B., Landberg, G., Olsson, H., Wirfält, E. 2008a. Plant foods and oestrogen receptor – and –defined breast cancer: Observations from the Malmö Diet and Cancer Cohort. *Carcinogenesis*, 29:2203–2209.
- Sonnestedt, E., Borgqvist, S., Ericsson, U., Gullberg, B., Olsson, H., Adlercreutz, H., Landberg, G., Wirfält, E. 2008b. Enterolactone is differently associated with estrogen receptor –negative and –positive cancer in a Swedish nested case-control study. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention*, 17:3241-3251.
- Stich, S.R., Toumba, J.K., Groen, M.B., Funke, C.W., Leemhuis, J., Vink, J., Woods, G. 1980. Excretion, isolation and structure of a new phenolic constituent of female urine. *Nature*, 287:738–740.
- Strandås, C., Kamal-Eldin, A., Andersson, R., Åman, P. 2008a. Composition and properties of flaxseed phenolic oligomers. *Food Chemistry*, 110:106-112.
- Strandås, C., Kamal-Eldin, A., Andersson, R., Åman, P. 2008b. Phenolic glucosides in bread containing flaxseed, *Food Chemistry*, 110:997-999.
- Struijs, K., Vincken, J-P., Doeswijk, T.G., Voragen, A.G.J., Gruppen, H. 2009. The chain length of lignan macromolecule from flaxseed hulls is determined by the incorporation of coumaric acid glucosides and ferulic acid glucosides. *Phytochemistry*, 70:262-269.
- Struijs, K., Vincken, J-P., Verhoef, R., van Oostveen-van Casteren, W.H.M., Voragen, A.G.J., Gruppen, H. 2007. The flavonoid herbacetin diglucoside as a constituent of the lignan macromolecule from flaxseed hulls. *Phytochemistry*, 68:1227-1235.
- Struijs, K., Vincken, J-P., Verhoef, R., Voragen, A.G.J., Gruppen, H. 2008. Hydroxycinnamic acids are ester-linked directly to glucosyl moieties within the lignan macromolecule from flaxseed hulls. *Phytochemistry*, 69:1250-1260.
- Tham, D.M., Gardner, C.D., Haskell, W.D. 1998. Potential health benefits of dietary phytoestrogens: A review of the clinical, epidemiological, and mechanistic evidence. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 83:2223-2235.
- Theander, O., Åman, P., Westerlund, E., Andersson, R., Pettersson, D. 1995. Total dietary fiber determined as neutral sugar and uronic acid residues, and lignin (The Uppsala method): collaborative study. *Journal of the Association of Official Analytical Chemists*, 78:1030-1044.
- Thiébaut, A.C.M, Chajès, V., Gerber, M., Boutron-Ruault, M-C., Joulin, V., Lenoir, G., Berrino, F., Riboli, E., Bénichou, J., Clavel-Chapelon, F. 2009. Dietary intakes of ω-6 and ω-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and the risk of breast cancer. *International Journal of Cancer*, 124:924–931.
- Thomassen, M.S. and Røsjø, C. 1989. Different fats in feed for salmon influence on sensory parameters, growth-rate and fatty acids in muscle and heart. *Aquaculture*, 79:129-135.
- Thompson, L.U., Chen, J.M., Li, T., Strasser-Weippl, K. & Goss, P.E. 2005. Dietary flaxseed alters tumor biological markers in postmenopausal breast cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 11(10):3828-3835.

- Thompson, L.U., Rickard, S.E., Cheung, F., Kenaschuk, E.O., Obermeyer, W.R. 1997. Variability in anticancer lignan levels in flaxseed. Nutrition and Cancer, 27:26-30.
- Thompson, L.U., Rickard, S.E., Orcheson, L.J., Seidl, M.M. 1996a. Flaxseed and its lignan and oil components reduce mammary tumor growth at a late stage of carcinogenesis, *Carcinogenesis*, 17:1373–1376.
- Thompson, L.U., Robb, P., Serraino, M., Cheung, F. 1991. Mammalian lignan production from various foods, *Nutrition and Cancer*, 16:43-52.
- Thompson, L.U., Seidl, M.M., Rickard, S.E., Orcheson, L.J., Fong, H.S. 1996b. Antitumorigenic effect of a mammalian lignan precursor from flaxseed. *Nutrition and Cancer*, 26:159-165.
- Tocher, D.R., Bell, J.G., Dick, J.R., Henderson, R.J., McGhee, F., Michell, D., Morris, P.C. 2000. Polyunsaturated fatty acid metabolism in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) undergoing parr-smolt transformation and the effects of dietary linseed and rapeseed oils. *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry*, 23:59-73.
- Tocher, D.R., Fonseca-Madrigal, J., Bell, G., Dick, J.R., Henderson, J., Sargent, J.R. 2002. Effects of diets containing flasseed oil on fatty acid desaturation and oxidation in hepatocytes and intestinal enterocytes in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Fish Physiology and Biochemistry*, 26, 157-170.
- Tou, J.C.L. and Thompson, L.U. 1999. Exposure to flaxseed or its lignan component during different developmental stages influences rat mammary gland structures. *Carcinogenesis*, 20:1831-1835.
- Tou, J.C.L., Chen, J., Thompson, L.U. 1999. Dose, timing, and duration of flaxseed exposure affect reproductive indices and sex hormone levels in rats. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A*, 56:555-570.
- Trattner, S., Kamal-Eldin, A., Brännäs, E., Moazzami, A., Zlabek, V., Larsson, P., Ruyter, B., Gjøen, T., Pickova, J. 2008. Sesamin supplementation increases white muscle docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) levels in rainbow trout (*Oncorynchus mykiss*) fed high Alphalinolenic acid (ALA) containing vegetable oil: Metabolic actions. *Lipids* 43:989-97.
- Vaisey-Genser, M. and Morris, D.H. 2003. Introduction History of the cultivation and uses of flaxseed. In: Muir, A.D. and Westcott, N.D. (eds) *Flax-The genus* Linum. Taylor & Francis, New York, NY, USA. pp 1-21.
- van Kranen, H.J., Mortensen, A., Sorensen, I.K., van den Berg-Wijnands, J., Beems, R., Nurmi, T., Adlercreutz, H., van Kreijl, C.F. 2003. Lignan precursors from flaxseed or rye bran do not protect against development of intestinal neoplasia in ApcMin Mice. *Nutrition* and Cancer, 45:203–210.
- Vanharanta M, Voutilainen S, Rissanen TH, Adlercreutz H, Salonen JT. 2003. Risk of cardiovascular disease-related and all-cause death according to serum concentrations of enterolactone: Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 163(9):1099-1104.
- Vanharanta, M., Voutilainen, S., Lakka, T.A., van der Lee, M., Adlercreutz, H., Salonen, J.T. 1999. Risk of acute coronary heart events according to serum concentrations of enterolactone: a prospective population-based case-control study. *The Lancet*, 354:2112-2115.
- Vanharanta, M., Voutilainen, S., Nurmi, T., Kaikkonen, J., Roberts, L.J., Morrow, J.D., Adlercreutz, H., Salonen, J.T. 2002. Association between low serum enterolactone and increased plasma F2-isoprotanes, a measure of lipid peroxidation. *Atherosclerosis*, 160:465– 469.
- Velasco, L. and Goffman, F.D. 2000. Tocopherol, plastochromanol and fatty acid patterns in the genus *Linum. Plant Systematics Evolution*, 221:77-88.
- Velentziz, L.S., Cantwell, M.M., Cardwell, C., Keshtgar, M.R., Leathem, A.J., Woodside, J.V. 2009. Lignans and breast cancer risk in pre- and post-menopausal women: metaanalyses of observational studies. *British Journal of Cancer*, 100:1492–1498.
- Voss, A., Reinhart, M., Sankarappa, S., Sprecher, H. 1991. The metabolism of 7,10,13,16,19-docosapentaenoic acid to 4, 7,10,13,16,19-docosahexaenoic acid in ratliver is independent of a 4-desaturase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266:19995-20000.
- Wakjira, A., Labuschagne, M.T., Hugo, A. 2004. Variability in oil content and fatty acid composition of Ethiopian and introduced cultivars of linseed. *Journal of the Science of Food* and Agriculture, 84: 601-607.
- Wang, C., Mäkelä, T., Hase, T., Adlercreutz, H., Kurzer, M. 1994. Lignans and flavonoids inhibit aromatase enzyme in human preadipocytes. *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 50:205–212.
- Ward, H.A. Chapelais, G., Kuhnle, G.G., Luben, R., Khaw, K.T., Bingham, S. 2008. Breast cancer risk in relation to urinary and serum biomarkers of phytoestrogen exposure in the EPIC-Norfolk study. *Breast Cancer Research*, 10:R32.
- Waters, A.P. and Knowler, J.T. 1982. Effect of a lignan (HPMF) on RNA synthesis in the rat uterus. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility*, 66:379-381.
- Westcott, N.D. and Muir, A.D. 1996a. Process for extracting and purifying lignans and cinnamic acid derivatives from flaxseed, PCT Patent WO9630468A2.
- Westcott, N.D. and Muir, A.D. 1996b. Variation in flax seed lignan concentration with variety, location and year. *Proceedings of the 56th flax institute of the United States*. March 20–22, Doublewood Inn, Fargo, North Dakota, pp 77–85.
- Westcott, N.D. and Paton, D. 2001. Complex containing lignan, phenolic and aliphatic substances from flax and process for preparing. United States Patent No. US 6264853 B1.
- Westcott, N.D., Hall, T.W.E., Muir, A.D. 2000. Evidence for the occurrence of ferulic acid derivatives in flaxseed meal. *Proceedings of the 58th flax institute of the United States*, March 23-25, Doublewood Inn, Fargo, North Dakota, pp 49-52.
- WHO, 2009 c. (online) http://www.who.int/diabetesactiononline/diabetes/en/ (2009-08-15).
- WHO, 2009a. (online) http://www.who.int/cardiovascular\_diseases/en/ (2009-08-15)

WHO, 2009b. (online) The Atlas of Heart Disease and Stroke.

- http://www.who.int/cardiovascular\_diseases/resources/atlas/en/index.html (2009-08-15)
- Willför, S.M., Smeds, A.I., Holmbom, B.R. 2006. Chromatographic analysis of lignans. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1112:64–77.
- Wood, J.D. and Enser, M. 1997. Factors influencing fatty acids in meat and the role of antioxidants in improving meat quality. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 78:S49-S60.

- Xia, Z.Q., Costa, M.A., Pelissier, H.C., Davin, L.B., Lewis, N.G. 2001. Secoisolariciresinol dehydrogenase purification, cloning and functional expression – Implications for human health protection. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276:12614–12623.
- Yamashita, K., Nohara, Y., Katayama, K, Namiki, M. 1992. Sesame seed lignans and gamma-tocopherol act synergistically to produce vitamin E activity in rats. *Journal of Nutrition*, 122:2440-2446.
- Zhang, W. and Xu, S. 2007. Microwave-assisted extraction of secoisolariciresinol diglucoside from flaxseed hull. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 87:1455–1462.
- Zhang, W., Wang, X., Liu, Y., Flinkinger, B., Empie, M.W. & Sun, S.Z. 2008. Dietary flaxseed lignan extract lowers plasma cholesterol and glucose concentrations in hypercholesterolaemic subjects. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 99:1301–1309.
- Zheng, X., Torstensen, B.E., Tocher, D.R., Dick, J.R., Henderson, R.J., Bell, J.G. 2005. Environmental and dietary influences on highly unsaturated fatty acid biosynthesis and expression of fatty acyl desaturase and elongase genes in liver of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). *Biochimica et Biophysica*, 1734:13-24.

## 8 Acknowledgements

I thank/Jag vill tacka:

My main supervisor, Afaf Kamal-Eldin. Thank you for your encouragement, your never-ending patience, ideas and suggestions, which are, and have been, very stimulating! Moreover, your devotion to your work and other important issues in life is a great inspiration.

Min biträdande handledare, Jana Pickova. Tack snälla för att du kontaktade mig och gav mig chansen att äntligen bli doktor! Jag har alltid tyckt om fisk, men jag äter den med större insikt nu.

I also thank those of you who have sometimes been directly involved in the work resulting in this thesis: Lennart Lundgren, Rolf Andersson, Per Åman, Roger Andersson, Eva Brännäs, Jan Pettersson, Nienke Peerlkamp, Charlotta Jung, Kajsa Spets, Lisa Brännäs, Christina Nilsson, Mukhtiar Ahmed, Elisabeth Mülner, Andreas Pettersson, Kerstin Lundström.

Jean-Paul Vincken, and Marian. Thank you for nice collaboration Jean-Paul and thank you both for welcoming me to Holland and to your home!

The rest of the staff at Laboratory of Food Chemistry, Wageningen University, The Netherlands, in particular: Harry Gruppen, Mark Sanders, Margaret Bosveld, Peter de Gijsel, Jolanda van den Boomgaard, Edwin Bakx, and my room mates Tomas, Wibke, Connie and Maxime, thank you for your help and kindness. Special thanks to you Carlos, for your company, kindness and dinners! I hope that you will enjoy the rest of your time in Holland now that your family is there with you.

Hela LMV, i synnerhet ni på KV och speciellt Sofia och Honza (for help with fishy issues) och mina rumskamrater, Tyler och Calle, och min nästan rumskompis (korridorskompis?) Maria för underhållande pratstunder.

Christina, för att du låtit mig rota bland dina artiklar, labböcker och linfrön.

Kumari, my co-spinner, and Catalina, thanks for your company and kindness at spinning, in Copenhagen ("holiday") and during the loooong and hard summer!

Helena, Susanne och Janne. Tack för sällskapet under mina första år på LMV, och för stimulerande samtal om allt möjligt.

Alla mina forna kollegor på Livsmedelsverket. Speciellt Monica, Ann, Lisa, Mats, Åsa och Kerstin för bra och lärorikt samarbete under många år.

Kristina, Monica, Anna och Torbjörn, mfl. för allt roligt som vi haft.

Alla mina föräldrar (MaLa och PaRi), Momma och Pappi, farmor och farfar, China, Filippa och Mats för all kärlek, för att ni matat mig, uppmuntrat mig, tröstat mig och underhållt mig, och för alla fina minnen och trevliga och roliga stunder tillsammans.

KALSEC Inc., VL-stiftelsen and FORMAS are gratefully acknowledged for financial support.